IOURNAL OF FOOD PROCESSING AND PRESERVATION

D.B. LUND EDITOR

FOOD & NUTRITION PRESS, INC.

VOLUME 13, NUMBER 6

DECEMBER 1989

JOURNAL OF FOOD PROCESSING AND PRESERVATION

Editor: D.B. LUND, Department of Food Science, Rutgers, The State University, Cook College, New Brunswick, New Jersey.

Editorial Board

W. BREENE, St. Paul, Minnesota	L.D. SATTERLEE, University
(1991)	Park, Pennsylvania (1989)
F.F. BUSTA, St. Paul, Minnesota	B.G. SWANSON, Pullman, Wash-
(1990)	ington (1991)
J.N. CASH, East Lansing,	K.R. SWARTZEL, Raleigh, North
Michigan (1991)	Carolina (1990)
O. FENNEMA, Madison, Wiscon-	R.T. TOLEDO, Athens, Georgia
sin (1990)	(1989)
M. KAREL, New Brunswick,	J.H. VON ELBE,
New Jersey (1989)	Madison, Wisconsin (1991)
T.P. LABUZA, St. Paul, Minne-	R.W. WROLSTAD, Corvallis,
sota (1990)	Oregon (1989)

All articles for publication and inquiries regarding publication should be sent to Dr. D. B. Lund, Rutgers, The State University, Cook College, Department of Food Science, New Brunswick, New Jersey 08903 USA. There are no page charges for publication in the *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation*.

All subscriptions and inquiries regarding subscriptions should be sent to Food & Nutrition Press, Inc., P.O. Box 374, Trumbull, Connecticut 06611 USA.

One volume of six issues will be published annually. The price for Volume 13 is \$110.00 which includes postage to U.S., Canada, and Mexico. Subscriptions to other countries are \$127.00 per year via surface mail, and \$136.00 per year via airmail.

Subscriptions for individuals for their own personal use are \$90.00 for Volume 13 which includes postage to U.S., Canada, and Mexico. Personal subscriptions to other countries are \$107.00 per year via surface mail, and \$116.00 per year via airmail. Subscriptions for individuals should be sent direct to the publisher and marked for personal use.

The Journal of Food Processing and Preservation is listed in Current Contents/Agriculture, Biology & Environmental Sciences (CC/AB).

The Journal of Food Processing and Preservation (ISSN: 0145-8892) is published bimonthly by Food & Nutrition Press, Inc. — Office of Publication is 6527 Main Street, Trumbull, Connecticut 06611 USA.

Second class postage paid at Bridgeport, CT 06502.

POSTMASTER: Send address changes to Food & Nutrition Press, Inc., P.O. Box 374, Trumbull, CT 06611.

JOURNAL OF FOOD PROCESSING AND PRESERVATION

JOURNAL OF FOOD PROCESSING AND PRESERVATION

Editor:	D.B. LUND, Department of Food Science, Rutgers, The State University, Cook College, New Brunswick, New Jersey
Editorial: Board:	W. BREENE, Department of Food Science and Nutrition, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota
	F.F. BUSTA, Department of Food Science and Nutrition, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota
	J.J. CASH, Department of Food Science and Human Nutri- tion, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan
	O. FENNEMA, Department of Food Science, University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin
	M. KAREL, Department of Food Science, Rutgers, The State University, Cook College, New Brunswick, New Jersey
	T.P. LABUZA, Department of Food Science and Nutrition, University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota
	L. SATTERLEE, Department of Food Science, Pennsylvania State University, University Park, Pennsylvania
	B.G. SWANSON, Food Science and Human Nutrition, Washington State University, Pullman, Washington
	K.R. SWARTZEL, Department of Food Science, North Carolina State University, Raleigh, North Carolina
	R.T. TOLEDO, Department of Food Science, University of Georgia, Athens, Georgia
	J.H. VON ELBE, Department of Food Science, University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin
	R. WROLSTAD, Departments of Food Technology and Chemistry, Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon

Journal of FOOD PROCESSING and PRESERVATION

VOLUME 13 NUMBER 6

Editor: D.B. LUND

FOOD & NUTRITION PRESS, INC. TRUMBULL, CONNECTICUT 06611 USA

ห้องสมุลกรมวิทยาศาสตร์บริการ

© Copyright 1989 by Food & Nutrition Press, Inc. Trumbull, Connecticut 06611 USA

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means: electronic, electrostatic, magnetic tape, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission in writing from the publisher.

ISSN 0145-8892

Printed in the United States of America

EDITORIAL

Volume 13 of the *Journal of Food Processing and Preservation* is now history and I can report that we have had a busy and successful year. Although we did not have many papers in our two unique sections entitled "Computer Codes and Their Applications" and "Databank", we have had excellent research contributions. As in the past two years, I would like to encourage our readership to submit papers in both the Computer Codes and Databank sections.

This year, I would especially like to thank Ms. Kathy O'Neil, Food & Nutrition Press, for her excellent effort on behalf of the *Journal of Food Processing* & *Preservation*. The entire operation is a team effort which includes authors, reviewers (see list below) and publisher. I would like to extend a thank you to all of those who participated in maintaining the quality reputation that the journal enjoys. I would like to thank the Editorial Board for their effort on behalf of the *Journal of Food Processing & Preservation*, especially Drs. Karel, Satterlee, Toledo and Wrolstad who have completed three year terms.

I appreciate the support which we have received for the journal. As we complete our first year of six issues per year, we can look forward to serving our profession with the continued high-quality publication.

Reviewers for 1989:

- P. Addis
 R. Baker
 R. Berry
 F. Busta
 J. Cash
 M. Daeschel
 E. Davis
 J. Floros
 A. Foegeding
 J. Frank
 C. Frankel
 G. Giddings
 C. Ho
 C. Huxsoll
 D. Kleyn
- J. Kokini

T. Labuza T.C. Lee A. Maurer T. Montville J. Mov V. Murphy I. Nawar P. Nelson I. Pflug G. Reineccius D. Ried J. Rosen E. Rotstein G. Sadler W. Sandine G. Saravacos

K. Schaich

- B. Schneeman
- H. Schwartzberg
- J. Sebranek
- J. Stamp
- D G 1
- D. Stanley
- J. Steffe
- B. Swanson
- K. Swartzel
- T. Toledo
- P. Taoukis
- M. Ubersax
- R. Villota
- J. Wells
- C. White
- R. Wrolstad
- E. Zottola

DARYL LUND Editor

THE 1990 GEDDES MEMORIAL LECTURESHIP

The Northwest Section of the American Association of Cereal Chemists is seeking nomination from all AACC Sections or AACC members for the 1990 William F. Geddes Memorial Lectureship. The lecturer is invited to address the Section at a regular meeting to speak on advances in plant breeding, formulations, processing, nutrition value or other aspects of science and technology of the cereal grain or other plant crops or the products of which plant crops are significant constituents. The individual receives a \$500.00 honorarium, an inscribed plaque, and necessary travel expenses. The lectureship honors the William F. Geddes achievement and memory, a former member of the section and professor of the University of Minnesota. Nomination forms are available from Dr. Mary K. Schmidl, Sandoz Nutrition, 5320 W 23rd Street, Minneapolis, Minnesota 55416. Deadline is December 31, 1989.

CONTENTS

Editorialv
The 1990 Geddes Memorial Lectureship
Sorbic Acid Stability During Processing and Storage of an Intermediate Moisture Cheese Analog J.A. TORRES, J.O. BOUZAS and M. KAREL
Potassium Sorbate Permeability of Methylcellulose and Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose Multi-Layer Films F. VOJDANI and J.A. TORRES
Influence of Gluconic Acid on Thermal Processing Requirements for Canned Whole Peeled Tomatoes J.R. HEIL, M.J. MCCARTHY, D.J. MCINTYRE and R.L. MERSON 431
Development of Products Containing Mesquite (<i>Prosopis</i> spp.) Pod Flour and Their Nutritional and Organoleptic Evaluation F.R. DEL VALLE, E. MARCO, R. BECKER and R.M. SAUNDERS .447
 Application of Response Surface Methodology in Protein Extraction Studies from Brewer's Spent Grain R. DIPTEE, J.P. SMITH, I. ALLI and S. KHANIZADEH
 Kinetics of Methylmethionine Sulfonium in Buffer Solutions for Estimating Thermal Treatment of Liquid Foods M.F. BERRY, R.K. SINGH and P.E. NELSON
Author Index
Subject Index

ท้องธรุงการ์งวทยาศาสตร์บริการ - 3 พ.ค. ?533

SORBIC ACID STABILITY DURING PROCESSING AND STORAGE OF AN INTERMEDIATE MOISTURE CHEESE ANALOG¹

J. ANTONIO TORRES^{2,3}, JORGE O. BOUZAS⁴ and MARCUS KAREL

Department of Applied Biological Sciences Massachusetts Institute of Technology Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139

Accepted for publication January 17, 1989

ABSTRACT

The chemical stability of sorbic acid during processing and storage of intermediate moisture foods was determined using a soybean based cheese analog. Samples prepared with 0.57 to 4.24% homogeneously distributed K-sorbate showed losses of less than 25% after 40 days storage at 35°C, 88% RH air and in the dark. Heating (2 h in an 85°C water bath) resulted in no significant sorbic acid losses. Samples with surface applications of 1 mg sorbic acid/cm² showed no detectable losses after 10 days storage under the same conditions. Furthermore, the stability of the preservative was not affected by growth of Staphylococcus aureus S-6.

INTRODUCTION

Sorbic acid is often used in intermediate moisture food (IMF) formulations as a fungistatic agent. It has also been found to be effective against *Staphylococcus aureus* (Pierson *et al.* 1979; To and Robach 1980; Robach and Stateler 1980; Robach and Sofos 1982; Elliot *et al.* 1982; Parada *et al.* 1982). *S. aureus* presence in IMF is of significance because of its pathogenic character and its ability to survive low water activity (a_w) environments (Scott 1953; Pawsey and Davies 1976). Although the stability of sorbic acid has been studied previously, (e.g., Heintze 1976; Bolin *et al.* 1980; Saxby *et al.* 1982) we found no reports on the effect of processing conditions such as heating, moisture removal by warm air; the stability difference between surface and bulk applications; nor the effect

Journal of Food Processing and Preservation 13 (1989) 409–415. All Rights Reserved. © Copyright 1989 by Food & Nutrition Press, Inc., Trumbull, Connecticut.

¹ Oregon State University Agricultural Experiment Station Technical Paper No. 8583

² Currently with Department of Food Science and Technology, Oregon State University, Corvallis, OR 97331.

³ To whom correspondence should be addressed.

⁴ Currently with Investigación y Desarrollo, Molinos Rio de la Plata, Buenos Aires, Agentina.

J. ANTONIO TORRES, JORGE O. BOUZAS and MARCUS KAREL

of storage time and microbial growth when related to IMF products. This study focused research on these questions using an IM cheese analog prepared as described elsewhere (Motoki *et al.* 1982; Torres *et al.* 1985).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Initial potassium sorbate concentrations were selected to cover the 0.5 to 4.2% (w/w, wet basis) range. Higher concentrations than the normal upper limit usage level (0.3%) (Anon. 1978a) were included to simulate the high local concentrations existing in surface applications. Samples with sorbic acid applied as a surface spray were included to determine if surface conditions accelerated sorbic acid degradation. To maintain a higher surface concentration during storage, samples were precoated with a zein film prepared as reported by Torres *et al.* (1985). Zein films reduce sorbic acid diffusion from surface into food bulk (Torres 1987). Samples were also inoculated with *S. aureus* S-6 (Torres and Karel 1985) to determine whether its growth affected sorbic acid stability.

Table 1 shows the components of the IM cheese analog prepared as described by Motoki *et al.* (1982) and Torres *et al.* (1985). The initial moisture content of this analog was 100 cm³/100 g solids and was reduced to $a_w = 0.88$ by blowing warm air into the food cutter where the ingredients were mixed. The a_w was measured using an electric hygrometer (SINA Equihygroscope, Beckman Industrial, Cedar Grove, NJ). Samples were then stuffed into cellulose casing

Ingredient	% w/w
isolated soy protein	26.5
Na-caseinate	6.0
Ca-caseinate	2.0
hydrogenated vegetable oil	34.6
decaglycerol mono oleate	0.4
salt	4.9
glycerol	6.0
sorbitol	19.6
K-sorbate	variable

TABLE. 1. INTERMEDIATE MOISTURE CHEESE ANALOG

(Type 30F0, Union Carbide, Tarrytown, NY) with a hand-press. Thereafter, casings were placed into seamless polyvinylidene chloride casing tubes (diameter 40mm, Kreha Chemical Co., Tokyo, Japan) and then heated for 2 h in a water bath kept at about 85°C. After heating, a_w was measured again with the electric hygrometer. Sample pH was determined with a surface electrode probe (combination electrode 39507, Beckman Instruments, Inc., Cedar Grove, NJ). Casings were then carefully removed under a laminar air flow hood and the cylinders thus obtained were cut into disks. Each disk was placed on a sterile dissecting needle and stored in a constant 88% RH chamber (over saturated BaCl₂). The chamber itself was placed in a constant temperature room at 35°C. Air in the chamber was kept in circulation by the use of a fan.

A hand-held 125 cm³ glass atomizer (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA) was used to spray coat individual sample disks with an aqueous ethanol zein solution (zein, 10% w/w; glycerol, 2.5% w/w; Myvacet 7-00, acetylated monoglycerides, Eastman Kodak Co., Rochester, NY, 1.0% w/w; 95% ethanol, 86.5% w/w). Coated and uncoated samples received a surface application of sorbic acid by spraying them with a solution of 10% sorbic acid in 95% ethanol. Sorbic acid spraying conditions for a surface application equivalent to 1 mg/cm² was determined experimentally as follows: several samples were sprayed for 5, 10, 15, 30, 45, 60 and 90 s with the sorbic acid solution using the same glass sprayer.

_{pH} (a,b)	*K-sorbate	*K-sorbate	*Remaining K-sorbate(d)		
F	time 00 ^(c)	time O ^(c)	Pasteurized	Non-Pasteurized	
6.3 ± 0.06 (n = 4)	0.55	0.57	84.7	84.7	
6.5 ± 0.03 (n = 4)	0.95	1.06 ± 0.11 (n = 3)	84.7	83.4	
6.6 ± 0.02 (n = 4)	1.98	2.10 ± 0.07 (n = 3)	86.0	91.8	
6.8 ± 0.04 (n = 4)	4.02	4.24 ± 0.03 (n = 3)	76.8	84.7	
all samples			86.1 <u>+</u> 3.8	83.1 ± 4.2	

TABLE 2. EFFECT OF HEATING AND STORAGE ON SORBIC ACID STABILITY: BULK APPLIED K-SORBATE

(a) Includes pasteurized (2 hours in a water bath at 85°C) and non-pasteurized samples.

(b) n = number of replicates

(c) Time 00 and 0 correspond to samples taken before and after pasteurization, respectively.

(d) After 38 days storage at 35°C, 88% RH air and in the dark

A plot of sample sorbic acid concentration versus spraying time indicated that about 17 s were sufficient to achieve the desired preservative surface concentration.

All samples and including controls were stored in the constant RH chamber. Preservative concentration was determined by HPLC as described by Torres *et al.* (1985). *S. aureus* growth response was determined by plating on Brain Heart Infusion agar (BHIA, Difco, Ann Arbor, MI).

RESULTS

The analysis of homogeneous K-sorbate concentration samples (Table 2) showed that initial preservative concentration affected pH of the model system giving values in the 6.3 to 6.8 range. No attempt was made to correct for this pH variation. Heat treatment (2 h at 85°C) resulted in no detectable K-sorbate losses and had no effect on degradation during storage (38 days).

K-sorbate determinations, expressed as percentage of initial concentration (Fig. 1), indicate that losses were less than about 25% after 38 days storage for



FIG. 1. K-SORBATE ACID DETERMINATIONS AS % INITIAL CONCENTRATIONS Initial concentrations, % K-sorbate (w/w): 0.57 [\bigcirc]; 1.06 [\diamond]; 2.10 [\triangle] and 4.24 [\square]. Except for controls, samples were inoculated with 101⁶ to 101⁷ cells/cm². Controls were either pasteurized [\bullet , \diamond , \blacktriangle , \blacksquare] or not [\bullet , \blacklozenge , \blacktriangle , \blacksquare]. Note that all controls were analyzed on day 37, however, to avoid symbol overlap data points were shifted to the right of Fig. 1.



FIG. 2. MICROBIAL GROWTH RESPONSE AT HIGH K-SORBATE CONCENTRATIONS Experiment was run in duplicate. Lines have been drawn through maximum and minimum values. Samples with higher preservative concentrations, inoculated at the same level, showed no viable counts. Initial preservative concentrations, %K-sorbate (w/w): 0.57 (pH = 6.3) [\bigcirc] and 1.06 (pH = 6.5) [\Diamond].

Time, h	Ox ^(a)	lx ^(a)	3x ^(a)	Average	
2	23.2	18.2	12.0	18.9 ± 6.8 ,	n-5
19	22.6	26.2	(c.v 19.1	22.6 ± 5.3 ,	n-6
44	19.7	16.7	16.7	17.7 ± 2.1,	n-6
68	11.6	22.5	12.3	15.4 <u>+</u> 6.1,	n - 5
118	21.1	21.2	15.3	20.0 ± 3.9,	n=5
168	38.7	20.0	14.5	21.5 ± 10.2,	n-6
228	15.5	14.5	14.4	14.8 <u>+</u> 4.0,	n - 6
All samples			(c.v	18.6 ± 6.1, - 33%)	n=39

TABLE 3. EFFECT OF HEATING AND STORAGE ON SORBIC ACID STABILITY: SURFACE APPLIED SORBIC ACID

(a) Uncoated samples [0x] and samples sprayed with zein one time [1x] or three times [3x].

samples that were inoculated with S. aureus. These data suggest that there was no concentration effect on degradation rate within the range considered in this study, 0.5 to 4.2% K-sorbate.

Remaining K-sorbate values for uninoculated pasteurized and nonpasteurized controls are also shown in Fig. 1. The comparison of controls and inoculated samples showed that presence of *S. aureus* played no role in K-sorbate degradation (Fig. 1). Furthermore, Fig. 2 shows that significant growth was detected at 0.57% K-sorbate, initial decreases with later growth were observed at 1.06%, while at 2.10 and 4.24% total counts remained below detectable levels (about 1,000 cells/cm²) during the length of the test (38 days). None of these behaviors had a detectable effect on stability (Fig. 1).

As indicated in Table 3 surface applications showed significant variations in the amount of sorbic acid deposited on each individual piece (2 h, overall c.v. = 36%). An analysis of variance of these data showed no statistically significant differences between uncoated controls (0x) and samples coated with zein one (1x) or three (3x) times. This analysis showed also some effect of storage time on sorbic acid stability. A least significance difference test suggested that this sorbic acid loss had occurred during the first day of storage (Anon. 1985). A similar behavior can be observed in Fig. 1 for samples with homogeneous preservative concentration. The amount of information collected so far is insufficient to identify the sorbic acid degradation kinetics when the preservative is applied on the surface of foods. However, the limited information collected suggests that the surface degradation rate can be expected to be slow and not very different to what has been observed for other application methods and lower concentrations.

CONCLUSION

Sorbic acid is stable under common processing and storage conditions, including microbial growth, preservative concentration variations, mode of application (surface versus homogeneous bulk concentration) and processing conditions (moisture removal by warm air to adjust a_w and heating for two hours in a water bath at 85°C). None of these treatments had a significant effect on its stability. These results were consistent with published findings (Heintze 1976); Bolin *et al.* 1980; Saxby *et al.* 1982).

REFERENCES

- ANON. 1985. SAS[®] Language Guide for Personal Computers, Version 6 Edition. SAS Institute, Cary, NC.
- ANON. 1978a. Sorbic acid and potassium sorbate. PublicationIC/FI-13, Monsanto Industrial Chemicals Co., St. Louis, MO.

- BOLIN, H. R., KING, A. D. and STAFFORD, A. E. 1980. Sorbic acid loss from high moisture prunes. J. Food Sci. 45, 1434.
- ELLIOT, P. H., THOMAS, R. I. and GRAY, R.J.H. 1982. Inhibition and inactivation of *Staphylococcus aureus* in a sorbate/modified atmosphere combination system. J. Food Prot. 45, 1112.
- HEINYAE, V. K. 1976. Uber die gegenseitige Beeinflussung von Sorbinsaure und schwefliger Saure. Die industrielle Obst- und Gemuseverwertung 61, 555.
- MOTOKI, M., TORRES, J. A. and KAREL, M. 1982. Development and stability of intermediate moisture cheese analogs from isolated soybean proteins. J. Food Proc. Pres. 6(1), 41.
- PARADA, J. L., CHIRIFE, J. and MAGRINI, R. C. 1982. Effect of BHA, BHT and potassium sorbate on growth of *Staphylococcus aureus* in a model system and process cheese. J. Food Proc. 45, 1108.
- PAWSEY, R. and DAVIES, R. 1976. The safety of intermediate moisture foods with respect to *Staphylococcus aureus*. In *Intermediate Moisture Foods*, pp. 182, (R. Davies, G. G. Birch and K. J. Parker, eds.) Applied Science Publ., London.
- PIERSON, M. D., SMOOT, L. A. and STERN, N. J. 1979. Effect of potassium sorbate on growth of *Staphylococcus aureus* in bacon. J. Food Prot. 42, 302.
- ROBACH, M. C. and SOFOS, J. N. 1982. Use of sorbates in meat products, fresh poultry and poultry products: A review. J. Food Prot. 45, 374.
- ROBACH, M. C. and STATELER, C. L. 1980. Inhibition of *Staphylococcus aureus* by potassium sorbate in combination with sodium chloride, tertiary butylhydroquinone, butylated hydroxanisole or ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid. J. Food Prot. 43, 208.
- SAXBY, M. J., STEPHENS, M. A. and REID, R. G. 1982. Degradation of sorbic acid in model food systems. Food Chem. 9, 283.
- SCOTT, W. J. 1953. Water relations of *Staphylococcus aureus* at 30°C. Aust. J. Biol. Sci. 6, 549.
- TO, E. C. and ROBACH, M. C. 1980. Potassium sorbate dip as a method of extending shelf-life and inhibiting the growth of Salmonella and *Staphylococcus aureus* in fresh, whole broilers. Poultry Sci. 59, 726.
- TORRES, J. A. 1987. Microbial stabilization of intermediate moisture food surfaces. Ch. 14. In Water Activity: Theory and Applications to Food, pp. 329, (L. B. Rockland and L. R. Beuchat, eds.), Marcel Dekker, New York.
- TORRES, J. A., MOTOKI, M. and KAREL, M. 1985. Microbial stabilization of intermediate moisture food surfaces. I. Control of surface preservative concentration. J. Food Proc. Pres. 9, 75.
- TORRES, J. A. and KAREL, M. 1985. Microbial stabilization of intermediate moisture food surfaces. III. Effects of surface preservation concentration and surface pH control on microbial stability of an intermediate moisture cheese analog. J. Food Proc. Pres. 9, 107.

POTASSIUM SORBATE PERMEABILITY OF METHYLCELLULOSE AND HYDROXYPROPYL METHYLCELLULOSE MULTI-LAYER FILMS¹

FAKHRIEH VOJDANI and J. ANTONIO TORRES²

Department of Food Science and Technology Oregon State University Corvallis, OR 97331

Accepted for Publication January 17, 1989

ABSTRACT

Spoilage by microorganisms growing on food surfaces is the shelf-life limiting factor for many food products. Previous publications have shown that this shelf-life limitation can be overcome by edible coatings lowering the diffusion rate into the food of antimicrobial agents applied on food surfaces. A permeability cell has been used to evaluate the potassium sorbate barrier properties of polysaccharide based films. In this paper we examine the effect of film formation technique and film formulation on the permeability rate of methyl- and hydroxy-propyl methyl cellulose based films. Permeability constant determinations ranging from 10^{-9} to 10^{-11} (mg/s cm²)(cm)/(mg/cm³) indicate that surface resistance to microbial growth could be enhanced significantly. Scanning electron microscopy examinations showed that films were of uniform thickness. Morphological differences between films were consistent with permeability measurements.

INTRODUCTION

Surface microbial stability is a major determinant of the shelf-life of many food products including refrigerated meats and intermediate moisture foods (IMF) (Vojdani and Torres 1989a,b). During storage and distribution of refrigerated meats, beef, poultry and seafood, nearly all microbial growth occurs on the surface and Gram-negative bacteria are predominant (Ingram and Dainty 1971; Dainty *et al.* 1975; Leistner *et al.* 1981; Anon. 1983). In the case of IMF's, surface condensations caused by temperature fluctuations result in temporary and local increases in surface water activity (a_w). Rapid microbial growth is possible in these localized regions (Torres *et al.* 1985a,b; Torres 1987).

¹ Oregon State University Agricultural Experiment Station, Technical Paper No. 8584. ² To whom correspondence should be addressed.

Journal of Food Processing and Preservation 13 (1989) 417–430. All Rights Reserved. © Copyright 1989 by Food & Nutrition Press, Inc., Trumbull, Connecticut.

The solution to surface microbial stability problems investigated in this and previous papers is to combine an edible impermeable coating and an antimicrobial agent such as potassium sorbate. The concentration of the surface-applied preservative is kept high by selecting an edible coating that retards preservative diffusion from the food surface into the food bulk (Torres *et al.* 1985a,b; Torres 1987; Vojdani and Torres 1989a,b). The use of edible coatings for this and other purposes has been recently reviewed by Guilbert (1986).

In a previous study (Vojdani and Torres 1989a), the potassium sorbate barrier properties of films composed of a mixture of fatty acids (FA) and cellulose derivatives, methyl cellulose (MC) and hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC), were determined using a permeability cell. Edible films with similar compositions have been studied by Fennema and coworkers (Kamper and Fennema 1985, 1984a,b; Kester and Fennema 1986) who have measured their water vapor migration barrier properties.

Methylcellulose films with palmitic, stearic and arachidic acid with a MC:FA = 45:15 ratio showed the following K-sorbate permeability values at 24° C: 1.2×10^{-8} , 8.9×10^{-9} and 4.9×10^{-9} (mg/s cm²)(cm)/(mg/cm³), respectively. At 5°C, the same films had the following permeabilities: 4.4×10^{-9} , 3.4×10^{-9} and 2.1×10^{-9} (mg/s cm²)(cm)/(mg/cm³), respectively. These values are comparable with those previously measured for zein films (Torres *et al.* 1985a). Microbial challenge tests have shown that zein films controlling surface K-sorbate concentration provide a tenfold increase in surface microbial stability (Torres and Karel 1985).

In this paper we report the effect on permeability values as influenced by the film casting technique. We have also examined films containing hydrogenated palm oil and white beeswax. Electron microscopy techniques were used to examine the morphological characteristics of these films.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents

Methylcellulose (MC, Methocel A 15-LV, Premium) and hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC, Methocel F50, Premium) were obtained from Dow Chemical Co., Midland, MI. Polyethylene glycol 400 (PEG), lauric acid (C12, 99-100%), palmitic acid (C16, 99%), stearic acid (C18, 99%), arachidic acid (C20, 99%) were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO. A C16-C18 (1:1, w/w) blend was prepared in the laboratory. Other chemicals used were glycerol (J.T. Baker Chemical, Phillisbury, NJ), white beeswax (Eastman Kodak Co., Rochester, NY), hydrogenated palm oil (Durkee 27, Durkee SCM, Corp., Cleveland, OH) and potassium sorbate (K-sorbate, Monsanto Co., St. Louis, MI). Ethanol (95%, reagent) was obtained from OSU Chemical Stores.

Film Preparation

Double Layer Films. The same technique previously described for single layer films (Kamper and Fennema 1984a; Vojdani and Torres 1989b) was used for the preparation of double layer films. The only difference between the first and the second layer was that the base layer contained no fatty acids. The second layer was cast with a MC or HPMC:fatty acid ratio of 45:20. The first layer was allowed to dry before applying the second layer which was done without changing the thickness setting (0.75 mm) of the thin-layer chromatography spreader.

The objective of this film preparation method was to determine whether improved films could be obtained by reducing the influence of the glass plate on film casting. It should be noted that the overall permeability of these multi-layer films is controlled by the permeability of the second layer which has been shown to have much lower permeability values (Vojdani and Torres 1989a,b).

Coated Films. A base layer containing no fatty acids was prepared as described by Vojdani and Torres (1989b), and then dried and peeled off from the plate. It was then carefully replaced on the glass plate making sure that no air bubbles had formed between the plate and the film. A hot solution of lipids or edible wax (ca. 80°C) was then spread on the base layers using the same warm spreader and a thickness of 0.25 mm. This application method differed from the one used by Kamper and Fennema (1984a) who painted the second layer onto the film.

Embedded Films. In this method the lipid layer was secured between two layers of HPMC. The top and bottom HPMC layers provided protection against cracking during testing.

Film Thickness Measurement

The thickness of films prepared in this study was measured as described by Vojdani and Torres (1989a,b).

Determination of the Permeability of Multi-layer Films

A multi-layer film composed of three sheets of thickness 1_1 , 1_2 and 1_3 , and permeabilities K_1 , K_2 and K_3 , respectively, placed in series has under steady state conditions an effective permeability, K_{123} , given by (Karel 1975; Crank 1976; Ashley 1985):

$$1_{123}/K_{123} = 1_1/K_1 + 1_2/K_2 + 1_3/K_3$$
(1)

where:

 K_{123} = permeability of the composite film $1_{123} = 1_1 + 1_2 + 1_3$ In the case of double layer films, and assuming that the two layers are of equal thickness, the equivalent formula for double layer is:

$$2/K_{12} = 1/K_1 + 1/K_2 \tag{2}$$

Estimations of Enhanced Surface Microbial Stability

The enhanced surface microbial stability period (t, days) can be estimated using the equation derived by Torres *et al.* (1985a):

$$t = \frac{1^2}{(86400)\pi f^2 K}$$
(3)

where:

1 = coating thickness, (cm)

K = permeability coefficient, (mg/s cm²)(cm)/(mg/cm³)

f = a dimensionless factor (=0.05)

f represents the reduction in surface concentration caused by diffusion into the food bulk. It should be noted that this expression gives only rough estimations that should be confirmed by microbial challenge tests (Torres and Karel 1985).

Electron Microscopy Studies

Electron microscopy was used to evaluate film structure and the distribution of fatty acids in them. Of particular interest were film uniformity and detection of pores. It was also used to confirm film thickness measurements.

The specimens were mounted on aluminum plancets using Avery Spot-O-Glue. The film was sectioned with a sharp razor blade and coated with approximately 100-200A° of 60:40 gold-palladium in a Varian VE-10 vacuum evaporator at a vacuum of 1×10^{-5} torr. The microscopic examination was made using an AMRAY 1000A SEM operated at 20KV at the Electron Microscope Facility, Oregon State University. Images were recorded on Polaroid type 55 positive/ negative 4×5 format film. Samples were photographed at effective tilt angles of + 30 to $+ 60^{\circ}$ towards the detector with respect to the incident electron beam.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Selected values obtained from a previous study on the permeability of single layer films have been summarized in Table 1 (Vojdani and Torres 1989b) and include MC and HPMC:FA ratios of 45:15 and 45:20. In the case of the 45:15 ratio we included data at 5 and 24°C.

Permeability Studies

Double Layer Films. Table 2 summarizes our determinations of the permeability values of films cast with the first layer containing no fatty acid while the

	Kx10 ⁹ MC or HPMC:FA		Kx10 ⁹ MC or HPMC:FA
	5°C	24°C	24°C
A. MC	and a second	and and the second second second second	
Control		49	49
		47	42
Lauric	10	30	22
(C12:0)	12	27	22
Deletete		10	
Palmitic	4.8	12	4.4
(016:0)	4.0	12	5.4
Stearic	3.2	9.4	12
(C18:0)	3.6	8.4	8.4
Areabidia	2 1	5 /	
(C20.0)	2.1	J.4 4 9	
(020.0)	2.0	4.9	
B. HPMC			
Control		87	87
concror		78	78
Lauric	19	48	28
(C12:0)	17	43	28
Pamitic	8.1	20	6.1
(C16:0)	7.0	21	6.0
Stearic	5.8	15	24
(018.0)	6.5	16	26
(010.0)	0.5	10	20
Arachidic	3.5	9.2	
(C20:0)	3.9	9.5	

 TABLE 1.

 EFFECT OF COMPOSITION ON THE PERMEABILITY^a OF SINGLE LAYER FILMS

^a (mg/s cm²)(cm)/(mg/cm³)

second layer contained various fatty acids at a MC or HPMC:FA = 45:20 ratio. The first layer was cast with the thin layer applicator set at 750 μ m which when dry had a thickness of approximately 20 μ m. The second layer was cast on the surface of this dry layer without changing the applicator setting. This procedure allowed us to assume that the thickness of each layer was approximately the same. Equation (2) was then used to estimate the permeability of the second layer (K₂) using double layer values (K₁₊₂). As shown by SEM analysis no significant amount of mixing appears to have occurred between individual layers (See section on Electron Microscopy Studies).

The trend previously reported (Vojdani and Torres 1989b), longer chain fatty acids yielding better films, is not quite evident, particularly for HPMC:FA films.

	к ₁₊₂ ь	кlc	κ ₂ ^d	1 ₁₊₂ e
	×10 ⁹	x10 ⁹	×10 ⁹	μ m
. MC				
Control		47 44		26 28
Lauric	22 22		15 15	46 48
Palmitic	4.4 6.0		2.3 3.2	54 48
Stearic	11 12		6.0 6.8	54 54
Arachidic	6.1 6.3		3.2 3.4	38 38
. НРМС				
Control		87 78		28 26
Lauric	31 29		19 18	44 42
Palmitic	25 28		15 17	38 40
Stearic	30 28		18 17	46 48
Arachidic	11 12		5.6	44

TABLE 2. EFFECT OF COMPOSITION ON THE PERMEABILITY^a OF DOUBLE LAYER FILMS AT 24°C

^a (mg/s cm²) (cm) / (mg/cm³) ^b Permeability of double layer film

^c Permeability of base layer ^d Permeability of top layer with a MC or HPMC:FA = 45:20 ratio

^e Thickness of double layer film, μm

The lowest permeability value was observed for MC:palmitic acid films. The reasons for the better values obtained for palmitic acid are not clear and require further studies.

Estimated values (K_2 , Table 2) are lower than the equivalent values obtained for single layer films (Table 1, 45:20 data at 24°C). This was due to the single layer film casting difficulties encountered with higher fatty acid concentrations which were not noticed in double layer films. As previously reported arachidic

K xl	0 ^{9^{K2^b}}	11°	1 ₁₊₂ ^d	1 ₁₊₂₊₁ e
0.045	0.034	30	133	
0.058	0.045	25	115	-
4.2	2.9	21	109	130
3.4	2.2	22	100	122
1.9	1.2	23	105	128
1.3	0.85	20	90	110
	K 0.045 0.058 4.2 3.4 1.9 1.3	$\begin{array}{c} K \\ \times 10^{9} \\ \hline \\ 0.045 \\ 0.058 \\ 0.045 \\ \hline \\ 4.2 \\ 2.9 \\ 3.4 \\ 2.2 \\ \hline \\ 1.9 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3 \\ 0.85 \\ \end{array}$	κ κ_2^b l_1^c 0.045 0.034 30 0.058 0.045 25 4.2 2.9 21 3.4 2.2 22 1.9 1.2 23 1.3 0.85 20	$K_{x109}K_2^b$ l_1^c l_{1+2}^d 0.045 0.034 30 133 0.058 0.045 25 115 4.2 2.9 21 109 3.4 2.2 22 100 1.9 1.2 23 105 1.3 0.85 20 90

TABLE 3. EFFECT OF COMPOSITION AND TEMPERATURE ON THE PERMEABILITY* OF VARIOUS MULTI-LAYER FILMS

 $(mg/s cm^2) (cm) / (mg/cm^3)$

^b Permeability of the second layer, i.e. bees wax or the C18-C16 mixture

^e Thickness of the base layer, μm

^d Thickness of the base and second layer, μm

^e Thickness of the three layer film, μm

acid single layer films could not be prepared with a 45:20 ratio (Table 1, Vojdani and Torres 1989b). Therefore, a more relevant comparison between single and double layer films is to compare K_2 values at a 45:20 ratio (Table 2) with K values obtained at a 45:15 ratio (Table 1). This comparison shows an improvement for films cast on top of a MC or HPMC base as compared to those cast on glass. This suggests that future studies should examine the effect of food surfaces on the coating properties. Particular attention should be given to surface tension considerations.

Using the approach described by Torres (1987, Table 14.2) it is possible to estimate the effect that double layer films (with permeability values equal to those measured in this study) have on increased microbial stability. For example, if one assumes that it is possible to cast films on a food with the same permeability value (K_2) as reported in Table 2, the surface protection can be predicted to last 2 months for a 0.1 mm film and 7 months for a 0.2 mm thick MC:palmitic acid = 45:20 ratio film.

Coated Films. MC and HPMC films were coated with hydrogenated palm oil and a palmitic-stearic mixture (50% w/w) but resulted in brittle surfaces that could not be tested in the permeability cell. On the other hand, HPMC films coated with beeswax resulted in films with extremely low permeability values. Values reported in Table 3 should only be considered an upper boundary estimate. The permeability cell method became an inconvenient procedure for coatings with permeability values on the order of 10^{-11} (mg/s cm²)(cm)/(mg/cm³). Moreover, predicted surface protection for such low permeability values indicates that product deterioration would occur by a spoilage mechanism other than surface microbial growth.

Permeability values at other temperatures can be estimated using an Arrhenius model approach. An alternative is the use of the following expression whose validity for several films was demonstrated by Vojdani and Torres (1989a,b):

$$K \mu/T = \alpha \tag{4}$$

where:

- K = permeability value
- μ = solvent viscosity
- T = absolute temperature
- $\alpha = a \text{ constant}$

Using this approach we estimated that the permeability at 5°C of a HPMC film coated with beeswax would be in the order of 1×10^{-11} (mg/s cm²)(cm)/ (mg/cm³), i.e., 2–3 orders of magnitude lower than the values obtained by Torres *et al.* (1985a) for zein films.

Embedded Films. An attempt was made to determine the permeability of pure fatty acid films. A palmitic-stearic acid mixture (50% w/w) was embedded between two layers of HPMC. Samples of the film having the first, the first two and all three layers were used to determine the approximate thickness of each layer needed to estimate the permeability coefficient of the pure fatty acid layer (Table 3). The average K_2 value was 2.6×10^{-9} (mg/s cm²)(cm)/(mg/cm³) and should be compared with the higher values obtained for single layer films containing these fatty acids (Table 1).

Kamper and Fennema (1948a) reported that HPMC films coated with hydrogenated palm oil had good moisture barrier properties. Unfortunately, embedded films using hydrogenated palm oil as the middle layer cracked easily and could not be tested in our permeability cell.

Electron Microscopy Studies

Morphological differences between individual film compositions and casting techniques were examined by electron microscopy (Fig. 1–3). Figure 1 shows the presence of fatty acid crystals on the film surface. As shown in Fig. 2, films were of uniform thickness and consistent with the values measured with a Best Test Indicator (Vojdani and Torres 1989a,b). None of the films examined showed the presence of cracks or pores. The thickness differences between films with different composition were expected (Vojdani and Torres 1989b). Cross sections of thicker films, typically beeswax coated and multiple layer films were more difficult to prepare and show that tearing occurred during cutting. No major



FIG. 1. ELECTRON MICROSCOPY PHOTOMICROGRAPHS OF THE SURFACE OF SINGLE LAYER FILMS (bar = 10 μm)
a. CE:palmitic acid=45:15
b. CE:stearic acid=45:15
c. CE:arachidic acid=45:15
See text for further details.



FIG. 2. ELECTRON MICROSCOPY PHOTOMICROGRAPHS OF CROSS-SECTIONS OF EDIBLE COATING FILMS (bar = 10 μm)
a. MC:palmitic acid=45:15, single layer film
b. HPMC:arachidic acid=45:15, double layer film
c. MC:stearic acid=45:15, single layer film
d. HPMC:stearic acid=45:15, double layer film
Numbers 1,2,3 indicate layer application order. See text for further details.

differences were seen between MC and HPMC based films, thus the following discussion will concentrate on the effect of the fatty acid component.

Single Layer Films. Figure 1 shows top view photomicrographs of the surface of single layer films containing palmitic, stearic and arachidic acid at a MC or HPMC:FA = 45:15 ratio. Lauric acid films are not shown because they could not withstand the electron beam.

Although single layer films were cast from an homogeneous mixture (Vojdani and Torres 1989b) fatty acids tended to migrate to the surface and formed mostly vertical crystals. As noted by Kamper and Fennema (1984a) the fatty acids orient themselves at the air-film solution interface during film formation.



FIG. 3. ELECTRON MICROSCOPY PHOTOMICROGRAPHS OF MULTI-LAYER FILMS (bar = $10 \ \mu m$)

a. surface of bees wax coated HPMC film

b. cross-section of bees wax coated HPMC film

c. cross-section of hydrogenated palm oil embedded between two HPMC layers

d. cross-section of a C18-C16 mixture embedded between two HPMC layers

Numbers 1,2,3 indicate layer application order. See text for further details.

Differences can also be seen between the fatty acid crystalline structures observed. Both palmitic and stearic acid formed on the film surface polygonal flat crystals, however, stearic acid crystals were larger. On the other hand, arachidic acid formed large rectangular, flat and ribbon-like crystals.

Surface spots with no crystals were observed in films with stearic acid, which were more frequent in the case of arachidic acid but were not seen with palmitic acid. This observation seems to be consistent with the apparent fatty acid distribution differences within the film itself. The cross section shown in Fig. 2a suggests that in films with palmitic acid there is a bottom to top surface increase in the distribution of fatty acids which is less pronounced for stearic (Fig. 2c)

and arachidic acid (Fig. 2b). This suggests that palmitic acid had fewer difficulties in reaching the film surface as compared to stearic and arachidic acid. Further studies are required to confirm these preliminary observations.

Double Layer Films. No major differences were noted on the surface of double layer films. The most significant observation was that electron microscopy studies provided support to our assumption that each layer had the same thickness and that no mixing occurred between individual layers (Fig. 2b and 2d). Note also the lack of features of the cellulose ether layer.

Coated Films. Figures 3a and 3b show a HPMC film coated with beeswax. In this case no crystalline structures were observed and the beeswax formed a very compact layer without voids. Kamper and Fennema (1984a) had observed that films coated with solid beeswax were very effective barriers to the transfer of water vapor, but that these films were extremely brittle. We found that our preparation method yielded films that were not only excellent K-sorbate permeability barriers but were also very flexible. Beeswax is known to provide excellent moisture transfer control (Watters and Brekke 1961).

Embedded Films. Figure 3d shows a palmitic-stearic acid mixture embedded between two layers of HPMC of approximately equal thickness. During casting some of the fatty acids leached out as shown by the presence of crystals on the film surface.

Figure 3c confirms our previous observation that hydrogenated palm oil embedded between HPMC layers formed poor films. This photomicrograph shows that individual layers tended to separate.

CONCLUSIONS

Permeability determinations summarized in Tables 1–3 are in the range of 10^{-9} to 10^{-11} (mg/s cm²)(cm)/(mg/cm³). The lowest values correspond to HPMC-beeswax double layer films. Single layer films containing fatty acids could be used to extend the relatively short shelf-life of refrigerated products whose stability is limited by surface microbial growth. Estimation of the surface protection period achieved by the use of double layer films with beeswax indicate that these films could extend the shelf-life of intermediate moisture foods stored at room temperature.

Scanning electron microscopy studies suggest a correlation between fatty acid distribution and permeability values. For example, single layer films containing palmitic acid were found to have lower than expected permeability values which correlate with the better surface fatty acid coverage noted in photomicrographs of these films. In the case of double layer films using beeswax a uniform surface coverage was also noted.

Edible bilayer films of the kind reported here and in previous papers (Vojdani and Torres 1989a,b) appear flexible and strong and should be able to withstand reasonable mechanical stresses during food distribution. Future studies will determine the diffusion of sorbate in food model systems coated with these films. The effectiveness of diffusion control should also be evaluated using microbial challenge tests.

REFERENCES

- ANON. 1983. Fish bleeding, sorbate preservation of fillets studied at Gloucester Laboratory. Marine Fisheries Review 45(3), 24.
- ASHLEY, R. J. 1985. Permeability and plastics packaging. Ch. 7. In *Polymer Permeability*, (J. Comyn, ed.) pp. 1, Elsevier Applied Science Publ., London.
- CRANK, J. 1976. The Mathematics of Diffusion, 2nd. ed. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- DAINTY, R. H., SHAW, B. G., DE BOER, K. A. and SCHEPS, E.S.J. 1975. Protein changes caused by bacterial growth on beef. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 39(1), 73.
- GUILBERT, S., 1986. Technology and application of edible protective films.Ch. 19. In *Food Packaging and Preservation. Theory and Practice*, (M. Mathlouthi, ed.) pp. 371, Elsevier Applied Science Publ., London.
- GUILBERT, S., GIANNAKOPUOLOS, A. and CHEFTEL, J. C. 1985. Diffusivity of sorbic acid in food gels at high and intermediate water activities. In *Properties of Water in Foods in Relation to Quality and Stability*, (D. Simatos and G. L. Multon, eds.) pp. 343.
- INGRAM, M. and DAINTY, R. H. 1971. Changes caused by microbes in spoilage of meats. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 34(1), 21.
- KAMPER, S. L. and FENNEMA, O. 1984a. Water vapor permeability of edible bilayer films. J. Food Sci. 49, 1478.
- KAMPER, S. L. and FENNEMA, O. 1984b. Water vapor permeability of an edible, fatty acid, bilayer film. J. Food Sci. 49, 1482.
- KAMPER, S. L. and FENNEMA, O. 1985. Use of an edible film to maintain water vapor gradients in foods. J. Food Sci. 50, 382.
- KESTER, J. J. and FENNEMA, O. R. 1986. Edible films and coatings: A review. Food Tech. 40(12), 47.
- KAREL, M. 1975. Protective packaging of foods. Ch. 12. In *Principles of Food* Science. Part II. Physical Principles of Food Preservation, (M. Karel, O. R. Fennema and D. B. Lund, eds.) pp. 399, Marcel Dekker, New York.
- LEISTNER, L., ROEDEL, W. and KRISPIEN, K. 1981. Microbiology of meat and meat products in high- and intermediate-moisture ranges. In *Water Ac*-

tivity: Influences on Food Quality, (L. B. Rockland and G. F. Stewart, eds.) pp. 855, Academic Press, New York.

- TORRES, J. A. 1987. Microbial stabilization of intermediate moisture food surfaces. Ch. 14. In *Water Activity: Theory and Applications to Food*, (L. B. Rockland and L. R. Beuchat, eds.) pp. 329, Marcel Dekker, New York.
- TORRES, J. A., MOTOKI, M. and KAREL, M. 1985a. Microbial stabilization of intermediate moisture food surfaces. I. Control of surface preservative concentration. J. Food Proc. Pres. 9, 75.
- TORRES, J. A., BOUZAS, J. O. and KAREL, M. 1985b. Microbial stabilization of intermediate moisture food surfaces. II. Control of surface pH. J. Food Proc. Pres. 9, 93.
- TORRES, J. A. and KAREL, M. 1985. Microbial stabilization of intermediate moisture food surfaces. III. Effects of surface preservative concentration and surface pH control on microbial stability of an intermediate moisture cheese analog. J. Food Proc. Pres. 9, 107.
- VOJDANI, F. and TORRES, J. A. 1989a. Potassium sorbate permeability of polysaccharide films: Chitosan, methylcellulose and hydroxypropyl methylcellulose. J. Food Proc. Eng. 12, 33.
- VOJDANI, F. and TORRES, J. A. 1989b. Potassium sorbate permeability of methylcellulose and hydroxypropyl methylcellulose films: Effect of fatty acids. J. Food Sci. (In press).
- WATTERS, G. G. and BREKKE, J. E. 1961. Stabilized raisins for dry cereal products. Food Technol. *16*(5), 236.

INFLUENCE OF GLUCONIC ACID ON THERMAL PROCESS-ING REQUIREMENTS FOR CANNED WHOLE PEELED TOMATOES

J. R. HEIL,^{1,3} M. J. MCCARTHY,¹ D. J. MCINTYRE² and R. L. MERSON¹

¹Department of Food Science and Technology University of California Davis, CA 95616

Accepted for Publication January 17, 1989

ABSTRACT

Methods of detecting the activities of endogenous tomato pectin esterase and polygalacturonase were developed and used to measure heat resistance parameters for enzymes in tomato homogenates. Addition of 0.44% gluconic acid reduced heat resistance of pectin esterase which is responsible for gel formation in canned whole peeled tomatoes. However, heat inactivation of tomato polygalacturonase, which is responsible for general degradation of texture/consistency in tomato products, was not significantly affected by addition of up to 1.65% by wt gluconic acid. Pectic enzymes in canned whole peeled tomatoes packed in juice in 303×406 cans were inactivated in 35 min at 98.9 and 101.7° C, 26 min at 110.0° C or 25 min at 118.3° C.

INTRODUCTION

Tomato products are acid foods (pH < 4.6) that require relatively mild heating to control spoilage microorganisms and enzyme systems capable of degrading the finished product. Further acidification with organic acids to reduce heat resistance of microorganisms is commercial practice (Judge and Sons 1986). By acidifying to pH < 4.3, the problem of the most heat resistant flat-sour microorganisms is eliminated (York *et al.* 1975). For acidified tomatoes, therefore, severity of heat processing may be designed to inactivate pectic enzymes which are the most heat resistant enzymes in tomatoes and are responsible for texture

Journal of Food Processing and Preservation 13 (1989) 431–445. All Rights Reserved. © Copyright 1989 by Food & Nutrition Press, Inc., Trumbull, Connecticut.

²American National Can Co., Barrington, IL 60010

Correspondence: J. R. Heil, Department of Food Science and Technology, University of California, Davis, CA 95616.

degradation in the canned product (Schwimmer 1981). There is some evidence that acids can either decrease the heat resistance of pectic enzymes (Moy *et al.* 1978), or inhibit their activity (Wagner and Miers 1967).

Citric acid, a component of tomatoes, is the most commonly used acidulant. However, tartness of citric acid limits the amount that can be added without adversely affecting product flavor; at palatable levels, citric acid addition is not sufficient to reduce heat resistance of pectic enzymes. Considering other GRAS organic acids, gluconic acid has the potential to reduce pH below 4.0 without detracting from sensory qualities. The purpose of this study is to evaluate the influence of commercially feasible levels of gluconic acid on heat resistance of pectic enzymes in tomatoes, on process requirements and product quality in canned whole peeled tomatoes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Assays Development

Two major pectin-degrading enzymes in tomatoes are pectin esterase (PE), and polygalacturonase (PG). Although enzyme properties can be affected, to avoid side reactions during assaying of enzyme activity, the enzymes must be extracted and at least partially purified (Whitaker 1972). To prevent any alteration of the enzyme functionality in this study, the endogeneous tomato enzymes were retained in their natural environment. Activity was assayed by means of the characteristic enzyme action on a substrate. More specifically, since PE activity in canned tomatoes causes gel formation, activity of PE was assayed by observing gel formation in standard pectin solutions; and since action of PG causes sharp decrease in tomato serum viscosity, PG activity was evaluated by measuring changes in viscosity of standard pectin solutions. Activity of PE was inhibited by reduction of pH when assaying PG activity.

Substrate. Substrate solution was made with 3% by weight/volume slow set citrus pectin (Sunkist Growers, Inc., Corona, CA) in deionized water. The granules were dissolved by adding 10 mL of 10% HCl/L pectin suspension, and heating the mixture to near boiling, or until the granules dissolved. The solution was filtered through four layers of gauze to remove any undissolved clumps of pectin. To retard microbial activity, 0.1% by weight/volume sodium benzoate was added. The solution, pH 2.2 \pm 0.1, was refrigerated until needed. Other commercially available pectins can be screened for suitability as substrates by measuring changes in viscosities before and after incubation with crushed raw tomato sample. If viscosity of 3% pectin solution drops from approximately five to near one centipoise, that pectin can be considered a suitable substrate.

Sample Preparation. Processing tomatoes were crushed with 5% by wt NaCl at high speed in a blender. The whole homogenates, containing both seeds and



FIG. 1. SCHEMATIC ILLUSTRATION OF SAMPLE PREPARATION FOR EVALUATING HEAT RESISTANCE OF PECTIN ESTERASE (PE) AND POLYGALACTURONASE (PG) IN WHOLE TOMATO HOMOGENATE For PE, end point determinations were made (enzyme either active or not active). For PG, D values (times needed to reduce activity by 90%) were measured.

skins, were divided into six containers to which different levels (0 to 1.65% by wt) of gluconic acid were added. The samples were held on ice or refrigerated until used. A flow diagram of sample preparation and assay procedures is given in Fig. 1.

Pectin Esterase. For estimating pectin esterase (PE) activity, 2 mL of tomato homogenate were added to a standard pectin mixture consisting of 25 mL 3% pectin and 15 mL 0.5M sodium acetate buffer. The pH of the mixture was >

4.5. Samples were incubated 30 min at 37° C, heat inactivated (11 min at 100° C), and chilled up to 24 h. Appearance of a white haze indicated PE activity. When the samples were centrifuged 30 min at 6000 rpm and filtered, the demethylated pectin separated as a white gel residue. Thus, the presence or absence of PE was identified.

Polygalacturonase. Two mL of tomato homogenate were mixed with 25 mL pectin solution in covered 125 mL flasks. A number of incubation times and temperatures (between 25 and 50°C) (Pozsar-Hajnal and Polacsek-Racz 1975; Liu and Luh 1980) were tested. Best reproducibility was achieved with 2 h incubation at 37°C with constant agitation. To stop enzyme action, the mixtures were heated 11 min in boiling water and cooled to room temperature (25°C). Cooled samples were filtered through Whatman No. 4 filter paper, then through a glass fiber filter (GF Type A-E, Gelman Sci. Inc., Ann Arbor, MI), while loading each sample into a size 100 Ostwald-Cannon-Fenske viscometer tube



% Residual Activity

FIG. 2. REPRESENTATIVE STANDARD CURVE FOR % PG ACTIVITY MEASURED IN TERMS OF LOSS IN SERUM VISCOSITY IN 3% PECTIN SOLUTION PG activity curves were not affected by addition of acid, but varied with different sources and cultivars.

(Ind. Res. Glassware, Ltd., Roselle, NJ). Flow times were measured in a $30 \pm 0.1^{\circ}$ C water bath. Viscosity values were calculated as follows:

Viscosity (cp) = flowtime (s) \times k (flow tube calibration constant)

Duplicate flow times were measured for each sample. With the same pectin solution, reproducibility of viscosities was ± 0.01 cp.

Standard activity curves such as the one shown in Fig. 2 for PG were established using respective raw tomato homogenates diluted in known proportions (v/v %) with heat inactivated tomato homogenate. The latter homogenate was heated 30 min in boiling water and was assumed to have no enzyme activity. Using the standard activity curves, residual enzyme activity (%) in samples was estimated from % loss of viscosity. Paired tests for PG enzyme activity showed significant differences for varieties but not for the amounts of gluconic acid added.

Heat Resistance Study

For each acidification level, 4 mL of homogenate were placed into 1.0×7.5 cm glass tubes. The tubes were vacuum capped and heated in an agitated constant temperature ($\pm 0.1^{\circ}$ C) water bath. Heat resistance was measured at 6 to 12 temperatures in the 53.3–87.1°C range. Heating times, inversely related to temperature, were between one and 70 min. At the end of heating, the tubes were cooled in ice water, and 2 mL of the heated material was transferred to each assay reaction mixture. For PE inactivation, thermal destruction times were calculated using standard TDT procedures (NCA 1968), i.e., heating the samples at progressively longer times until an endpoint time beyond which no enzyme activity was observed in the assay. For PG, % losses in viscosity of pectin solution were converted to % activity values using standard curves for the homogenates, such as shown in Fig. 2. D values were obtained from correlations of log percent activity remaining versus time.

Canned Samples

Enzyme inactivation and process requirements for canned whole peeled tomatoes in 303×406 cans were established using the canned product.

Laboratory Test Packs. Laboratory test packs were prepared as follows: Tomatoes were dipped in boiling water for 20 s, then cooled in running tap water. The tomatoes were hand peeled and packed into 303×406 inside enameled cans. Tomato fill weights were changed with processing temperature: 290.7 – 334 g at 215°F (101.7°C), 331.5 – 385 g at 230°F (110°C), and 325.1 – 388.5 g at 245°F (118.3°C) to simulate commercial practice; higher fill weights were needed at higher processing temperatures to meet drained weight requirements
PROCESSING CONDITIONS AND MAXIMUM CAN CENTER TEMPERATURES (CT)
ACHIEVED IN LABORATORY TEST PACKS OF CANNED WHOLE PEELED
TOMATOES IN 303 × 406 CANS. MAXIMUM TEMPERATURES ARE AVERAGES
IN THREE CANS.

TABLE 1

Process Time	ess Process Temperature					
(min)	215°F (101.7°C) 230°F (110°C)			245°F (118.3°C)		
	reel speed (rpm)	max CT (°F)	reel speed (rpm)	max CT (°F)	reel speed (rpm)	max CT (°F)
10			2 0	152 0 ± 11 2	4.0	199 0 + 33 0
10			3.0	153.0 ± 11.3	4.0	100.0 I 33.9
15			3.5	164.5 ± 43.1	3.5	207.5 ± 6.4
20	3.5	179.5 ± 14.8	2.9	185.7 ± 18.2	3.0	216.5 ± 12.0
25	2.5	196.3 ± 8.1			2.5	216.5 ± 16.3
26			2.4	194.0 ± 1.4		
30	2.5	212.3 ± 3.0	2.4	196.0 ± 1.4	2.4	244.0 ± 2.8
35	1.7	197.2 ± 20.2				
41	1.7	210.7 ± 4.0				

(USDA 1964). Tomato count per can averaged 5 ± 1 . To each can, 40 grains of sodium chloride were added. The tomatoes were covered with tomato juice which contained gluconic acid at 0 to 1.65% by juice weight. The cans were sealed under 15 in. (381 mm Hg) vacuum and processed in a Steritort cooker. In each retort load, heat penetration at the can center was measured in three cans. The thermocouples were initially located inside tomatoes. Processing conditions and maximum can center temperatures achieved are given in Table 1. Variability in can center temperatures was probably due to tomatoes breaking or slipping off the thermocouples as the cans were rotating. This made determinations of slowest heating points unreliable. Reel speeds were chosen to reflect commercial cooker operation. For each retort time-temperature combination, five cans were packed and analyzed at each gluconic acid level.

Commercial Test Packs. Commercial test packs of canned tomatoes were prepared and packed on-line in a commercial plant. Samples with 0.3% citric acid in the juice were taken from regular production. Experimental samples containing gluconic acid or no acid were processed in a separate rotary pressure cooker. Times, temperatures and cooker speeds are given in Table 2. Can center temperature was measured by puncturing a hot can and inserting a metal thermometer. In the 1985 tomato season, no attempts were made to control either

Process Time (min)	Cooker Reel Speed (rpm)	Cooker Speed (cans/min)	Can Center Temperature (°F)
20	3.5	174	192.5 ± 5.0
25	2.8	135	194.2 ± 2.0
30	2.3	116	194.5 ± 2.6
35	2.0	100	200.4 ± 2.4
42	1.7	85	201.6 ± 1.3

PROCESSING CONDITIONS AND CAN CENTER TEMPERATURES ACHIEVED AT
THE END OF HEATING IN COMMERCIAL TEST PACKS OF CANNED WHOLE
PEELED TOMATOES IN 303×406 CANS, PROCESSED AT 210°F (98.9°C)
IN 1985 SEASON. AVERAGES ARE OF EIGHT CANS AT EACH TIME.

TABLE 2

tomato wholeness or fill weights. In 1986, only 4–6 whole tomatoes per can were used and fill weights were controlled at 313 \pm 29 g. Twelve cans per variable were evaluated in this part of the study.

Microbial Activity. Cans of tomatoes were aseptically stab-sampled with a flamed, inverted 2 mL pipette, to avoid potential contamination during blending can contents. Triplicate tubes of 10 mL Acid Product Test (APT) broth (0.75% yeast extract, 1% peptone and 1% invert sugar) were inoculated with 1 mL sample each and incubated at 30°C. Development of cloudiness in the clear broth indicated microbial growth. The formulation was specific for vegetative organisms (lactics, yeasts, etc.) that would grow in the tomato material. Growth was confirmed microscopically.

Enzyme Activity. Cans of whole tomatoes were again stab-sampled in triplicate. Evaluations were done between the second and eighth month of storage. Samples containing tomato flesh and locular material, including seeds, were incubated in the pectin reaction mixture. Pectin solution viscosities were measured to assess PG activity. Apparent enzyme activity was confirmed by comparing decreases in viscosity after incubating the pectin solutions with selected samples before and after the samples were heated 10 min in boiling water.

Physical and Chemical Analyses. Wholeness and drained weight were measured according to U.S. Standards for Grades of canned whole peeled tomatoes (USDA 1964). The method of sampling left characteristic holes which neither detracted from apparent wholeness of tomatoes nor affected comparable drained weights. Juice color was evaluated with a Gardner XL 23 tristimulus colorimeter (Gardner Laboratory, Inc., Bethesda, MD) standardized with D33C-1131 red

tile. Sample pH was measured using an Orion combination glass body electrode and Model 701A digital IONALYZER (Orion Research Inc., Cambridge, MA).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Heat inactivation time for enzymes is analogous to the thermal death time (or F value) used for microorganisms. It is an end-point determination which defines how long the food must be heated at a given temperature so that enzyme activity is no longer observed. Heat inactivation time can be expressed as an F value in terms of D values at a specified temperature (T):

$$F_T^z = D_T^z$$
 (log a - log b)

where "a" describes the initial activity (100%) and "b" the activity which survives the given heat treatment. In commercial processing, "b" must be small enough that the "surviving" enzyme fraction will not cause problems in the processed food. The D value represents time needed at temperature T to destroy 90% of the enzyme activity. D is an exponential function of temperature:

$$D_{T} = D_{T} \frac{10}{z}$$

and is used to define parameter z. $D_{T_{ref}}$ is the D value at reference temperature T_{ref} .

In the present experiments, the assay for PE was an end point determination; it measured only presence or absence of active PE. Therefore, this assay was useful for directly obtaining F values required for inactivating PE. The z value was obtained from the negative reciprocal of the regression coefficient determined for temperature of heating vs log F. The viscosity test method for PG was adequately sensitive to reproducibly detect about 1% loss in viscosity (or 0.1% of the original PG activity). Heating times to achieve this level of destruction could be assumed to be endpoints, or F values. However, since the method was capable of measuring viscosity losses over the full range of 100% to 0.1% enzyme activity, it was suitable for determining D values. D values could then be used to establish F values for any desired level of PG inactivation. The negative reciprocal of the regression coefficient from temperature vs log D yielded the z value.

Heat Resistance of Pectic Enzymes

Pectin Esterase (PE). Pectin esterase is known for firming canned tomatoes and for causing undesirable gel formation in the covering juice. The optimum

pH for plant PE is slightly alkaline, pH 7-9, whereas PE of fungal origin can tolerate a broader range of pH, with most optima falling on the acid side (Schwimmer 1981).

Up to 0.33% gluconic acid addition (pH 3.84 ± 0.08) did not reduce the heat resistance of PE in tomato homogenates. However, above 0.44% gluconic acid levels (pH 3.76 ± 0.08), the heat inactivation time at 82°C was decreased from 51 s to 14 s, and z was decreased from 13°C to 9°C (as compared to $\leq 0.33\%$ gluconic acid).

Extracted tomato enzyme has been reported to have an inactivation time of 15 s at 82°C (Garces 1963; Luh and Daoud 1971). In crushed tomatoes in this work, PE was inactivated in a longer time, 51 s at 82°C, with 0-0.33% gluconic acid added. At higher gluconic acid levels (>0.44%), inactivation time of 14 s was closer to the 15 s literature value for the extracted enzyme. However, the z values for endogenous enzymes (9 and 13°C) in this work were very different from z values of 60.8 - 65.7°C reported for the extracted enzyme (Garces 1963). Removal of enzymes from their natural environment may be the primary cause for the observed differences.

McColloch *et al.* (1952) reported enhanced enzyme activity between 50–60°C for the natural enzyme in the tissue. Our results support their finding; enzyme inactivation was not observed in 50 min at 61°C. The enhanced PE enzyme activity at elevated temperatures, before protein denaturation, could cause problems in tomato canning operations. PE could attack pectins as tomatoes heat through heat activation and marginal inactivation temperatures. Addition of gluconic acid could help with the problem in two ways; first, the enzyme activity should be reduced by addition of the acid (Moy *et al.* 1978) and, second, at levels of 0.44% or above, gluconic acid reduces the heat resistance, thereby enhancing enzyme destruction. Thus, formation of gel in canned whole peeled tomatoes may be controlled. PE enzyme regeneration was not observed.

Polygalacturonases (PG). Unlike PE, which de-esterifies pectins, tomato PGs can split both internal and penultimate linkages, but will not cleave digalacturonic acid. Cleavage of internal linkages results in a sharp drop in viscosity. In published works (Garces 1963; Luh and Daoud 1971; Moshrefi and Luh 1984), activity of PG has been measured primarily using a reaction which depends on the reducing value of the pectic substance. The reducing value increases with enzyme action, since at each cleavage site on the pectin molecule, additional reducing groups become available for the reaction. To avoid interference from other reactions, the enzyme has to be extracted and partially purified. However, removal of enzymes from their natural surroundings could affect both activity and heat resistance. Therefore, it was important in this work to develop a method by which enzyme activity could be estimated without isolating the enzyme. A procedure for quantifying enzyme action as a function of viscosity was developed.

Several substrates, including various tomato products, were tested. With tomato products, pectin concentration and serum extraction were not reproducible, and viscosity values were inherently variable. Suitable substrates with which reproducible information could be gained were either slow or rapid set citrus pectins

	nomodel integ (in				
Gluconic Acid	Coefficient of Determination ^a	z value	ſ) values	
	R ²		70°C	82°C	104°C ^b
(%)	(%)	(°C)	(min)	(min)	(sec)
	Var. l	IC204 (lot 1; r	n=6 ^C)		
0	99.8	11.3	20.5	1.4	1.2
0.28	98.6	11.5	16.9	1.5	1.1
0.55	98.7	11.8	15.6	1.5	1.2
0.82	96 6	12 3	15 0	1 6	1 6
1 10	05.4	12.0	12.5	1.6	1 0
1.10	95.4	12.0	13.5	1.0	1.0
1.38	93.0	12.8	11.0	1.3	1.4
1.65	91.3	14.1	10.9	1.5	2.6
	Var.	UC204 (lot 2;	n=6)		
0	97.6	12.5	25.0	2.8	2.9
0.22	96.0	12.2	23.8	2.5	2.3
0 33	96.8	12.3	24.8	2.6	2.6
0.33	06.5	12.2	25 5	2 7	2 6
0.44	90.5	12.2	25.5	2.1	2.0
0.55	95.9	12.0	23.0	2.4	2.1
0.82	95.5	11.7	27.4	2.6	2.0
1.10	97.4	12.5	25.0	2.8	2.9
	Mixed lot (UC204,	UC82, Diego,	Murietta n=	=4-6)	
0	97.7	17.8	14.0	3.0	10.3
0.22	95.0	17.7	13.5	2.8	9.7
0.33	97.6	19.1	14.1	3.1	13.1
0 44	97.3	19.0	12.6	2.9	12.3
0.55	96 3	20.0	11 0	2 0	15 7
0.55	90.5	20.9	12.1	2.5	13.7
0.82	97.9	19.3	13.1	3.1	13./
1.10	96.9	21.4	12.4	3.3	19.4
	Fresh	market mix (n	=12)		
0	85.2	16.1	8.9	1.6	4.1
0.22	84.2	16.2	8.7	1.6	4.2
0.33	84.7	16.0	9.2	1.6	4.1
0.44	84.5	16.4	9.0	1.7	4.6
0.55	86.0	15 0	9.5	1 7	4 1
0.55	00.0	10.5	5.5	1.7	4.1
0.82	84.9	10.3	9.3	1./	4.0
1.10	81.4	16.1	11.0	2.0	5./

TABLE 3. HEAT RESISTANCE OF PG IN NATURAL AND pH MODIFIED WHOLE TOMATO HOMOGENATES (INCLUDING SEEDS AND SKINS)

*R² of correlations of log D value vs temperature.
*Extrapolated reference values for comparison with published data.
*n = Number of temperatures at which D value was assessed for each gluconic acid level.

(without sugar). Reaction mixtures were maintained at pH 2.5 \pm 0.1 to inhibit PE activity. The recommended sodium (Schwimmer 1981) was provided by the 0.1% sodium benzoate present in the pectin solution and the 5% NaCl used in preparing the homogenate.

Investigation of PG heat resistance was initiated based on results available on extracted enzymes: heat destruction time (F value) of PG has been indicated to be between 20 and 30 min at 60°C, or 15 s at 104°C, with z values ranging between 29.2 and 38.4°C (Garces 1963; Luh and Daoud 1971). As with PE, heat resistance of PG in the whole homogenate was different. For example, at 61°C, 90% inactivation (D) values were 24.8 and 69.0 min for the 1.65% gluconic acid and natural preparations, respectively. At 61°C, heat destruction of PG was expected based on the values reported by others, but in this work, it was not observed with heating up to 50 min. Heat inactivation parameters (D, z) obtained at selected temperatures are given in Table 3. D values at 104°C were calculated from regression equations and added as a basis of comparison with published values.

In one test using a mixture of tomato cultivars, heat resistance of PG was higher at higher temperatures when compared to results on single varieties. Since commercial tomato varieties are mixed for processing, analysis of the data concurs with observations of sporadic enzyme activity in tomato concentrates. Serum separation, an indication of enzyme activity, has been experienced in commercial tomato paste even after heat treatments of 45 s at 220°F (104°C).

Heat inactivation of PG, in general, did not respond to addition of gluconic acid. When Wagner and Miers (1967) studied the inhibition of tomato enzymes with additives, they found that PE and PG could be inhibited with strong acids that lowered pH of the tomato macerate to pH < 1.9. Enzyme inhibition in their work appeared to be a function of pH, and not of the type of acid used. Gluconic acid is a relatively weak acid which cannot achieve PG inhibition by adequately lowering the pH and apparently it did not demonstrate any functional site inhibition of pectic enzymes. Minimum homogenate pH with gluconic acid was 3.22 in this study.

The results show that heat resistance of PG varied with cultivars tested. Natural differences in enzyme concentration, activity and specificity, are assumed to be responsible. Pectic enzymes from microbial sources were unlikely in this study because only whole and uninfected tomatoes were used and preservative was added to the reaction mixture. Regeneration of PG activity after heat treatment was not observed.

Evaluation of Canned Samples

Since there were no definitive end point heating times for PG, final process requirements were determined in both laboratory and commercial test packs of canned tomatoes.

TABLE 4.

VISCOSITY TESTS TO DETERMINE POLYGALACTURONASE ACTIVITY IN LABORATORY CANNED TOMATOES. VISCOSITIES (CP) OF PECTIN REACTION MIXTURES INOCULATED WITH LABORATORY TEST PACK TOMATOES (AVG. \pm ONE STANDARD DEVIATION). SAMPLES WITHIN ONE ACID LEVEL AND PROCESS TEMPERATURE WERE REACTED WITH THE SAME STANDARD PECTIN SOLUTION.

Heating Time ^a	Reel Speed			% Gluconic a	cid in cover j	uice	
(min)	(rpm)	0.0 (control)	0.55	0.82	1.10	1.38	1.65
			D	0. 21585 (10)	1 790)		
			Proces	55 @ 215 F (10.	1.7 ()		
20 25 30 35 41	3.5 2.5 2.5 1.7 1.7	3.46±0.05* 3.59±0.02 3.58±0.05 3.63±0.03 3.61±0.06	2.50±0.01* 3.52±0.03* 3.62±0.08 3.63±0.04 3.63±0.03	3.52±0.08* 3.47±0.04* 3.59±0.01 3.59±0.05 3.63±0.02	3.49±0.05* 3.53±0.06* 3.55±0.03* 3.61±0.06 3.67±0.04	3.56±0.14* 3.58±0.06 3.57±0.02 3.60±0.04 3.62±0.03	3.50±0.01* 3.54±0.04* 3.58±0.02* 3.64±0.02 3.66±0.04
			Proc	ess @ 230°F (11	10°C)		
10 15 20 26 30	3.8 3.5 2.9 2.4 2.4	[2.82±0.10]* [2.97±0.06] [2.96±0.04] 2.99±0.02 2.96±0.05	2.87±0.12* 2.97±0.03 2.99±0.03 2.97±0.01 2.97±0.04	[2.84±0.07]* 2.93±0.04* 2.93±0.03* 2.98±0.03 2.97±0.04	[2.91±0.08]* 2.94±0.09* 3.02±0.02 3.03±0.06 2.98±0.02	2.90±0.10* 3.00±0.02 2.96±0.06 2.98±0.04 3.01±0.01	2.91±0.04* [2.94±0.02] [2.93±0.06]* 2.98±0.03 2.96±0.03
			Proce	ss @ 245°F (118	8.3°C)		
10 15 20 25 30	4.0 3.5 3.0 2.5 2.4	3.08±0.06* 3.04±0.02* 3.13±0.03* 3.17±0.03 3.20±0.08	3.06±0.10* 3.14±0.04* 3.13±0.02* 3.21±0.08 3.18±0.02	3.05±0.06* 3.09±0.07* 3.14±0.01 3.15±0.01 3.17±0.06	3.04±0.02* 3.08±0.03* 3.10±0.02* 3.19±0.02 3.16±0.03	3.02±0.06* 3.07±0.06* 3.13±0.04 3.17±0.03 3.18±0.06	3.00±0.03* 3.07±0.01* 3.11±0.02* 3.16±0.04 3.19±0.04

^aFollowed by 28 min cooling.

*Averages include viscosity values indicating >0.1% enzyme activity in one or more of the cans tested. Brackets around values indicate positive microbial growth in APT broth test.

Enzyme Activity. Viscosity measurements on pectin reaction solutions that were inoculated with laboratory test pack samples are given in Table 4. Enzymes were considered > 99.9% inactivated if the tomato inoculum caused less than 1.0% loss of viscosity in the PG assay. The limit was based on the variability in viscosity observed when using heat inactivated inocula.

At 215°F (101.7°C), enzymes were inactivated in all samples in 35 min, but not in 30 min of processing. Since it was shown earlier that acidification did not increase enzyme denaturation during heating above 80°C, apparent inactivation at some acidification levels for the 30 min process was interpreted as random occurrence associated with a marginal process; i.e., 30 min was a borderline process where some samples would be positive and others negative with respect to residual enzyme activity. At 230°F (110°C), enzyme activity was not found

TABLE 5. VISCOSITY TESTS FOR PG ACTIVITY IN CANNERY-PACKED TOMATOES PROCESSED AT 210°F FOR CONDITIONS IN TABLE 2. VISCOSITIES (CP) OF PECTIN REACTION MIXTURES INOCULATED WITH COMMERCIAL TEST PACK TOMATOES (AVG ± ONE STANDARD DEVIATION). SAMPLES WITHIN ONE ACID/YEAR TREATMENT WERE COMPARED.

			Acid in cov	er juice		
Heating Time ^a (min)	Control (no acid)	Gluconic 0.55%	Gluconic 0.82%	Gluconic 1.10%	Gluconic 1.32%	Citric 0.3%
			1985	Season		
20		5.27±0.12*	5.27±0.03*	5.31±0.04		4.93±0.06*
25		5.07±0.17*	5.22±0.02*	5.21±0.03*		5.05±0.02
30		5.28±0.04	5.24±0.03*	5.29±0.01		4.91±0.03*
35		5.23±0.04	5.32±0.09	5.27±0.06		4.93±0.02*
42	5.23±0.02	5.19±0.01	5.40±0.08	5.30±0.09		5.03±0.03
			1986	Season		
28	3.34±0.02*				3.37±0.05*	3.36±0.06*
35	3.49±0.08				3.46±0.04	3.42±0.03
42	3.44±0.06				3.45±0.08	3.45±0.06

^aFollowed by 28 min cooling.

*Averages include viscosity values indicating >0.1% enzyme activity in one or more of the cans tested.

after 26 min of processing, but 20 min was not adequate. At 245°F (118.3°C), a minimum process of 25 min was necessary.

The two commercial test packs of whole peeled tomatoes processed at 210°F (98.9°C) (Table 5) behaved similarly to the laboratory test packs. In the 1985 season, enzyme inactivation was questionable with processes less than 35 min for all gluconic acid packs and processes less than 42 min for citric acid packs. In 1986, however, when fill weights and wholeness were controlled, enzyme activity occurred only in samples which were processed 28 min, regardless of the acidulant used.

Microbial Activity. Although there was no indication of swelling in any of the cans, 9 cans out of 450 processed in the laboratory were positive for viable rods. Averages that include positive responses in APT broth are bracketed in Table 4. Four of the nine positive cans were controls (no acid added), one had 0.82%, two had 1.10%, and two had 1.65% gluconic acid in the covering juice. All spoiled samples were processed 20 min or less at 230°F (110°C). No viable

organisms were found in any of the commercial samples or in the laboratory samples processed at 215°F (101.7°C) or 245°F (118.3°C).

Survival of microorganisms did not correlate with pH. However, spoilage rate was 3/11 in cans with fill weights greater than 361 g processed 20 min or less at 230°F (110°C). Similar fill weights did not cause a microbiological problem in cans processed at 245°F (118.3°C).

Sample Quality. As expected, wholeness, color and drained weights were adversely affected as process severity increased. Acidification with either citric or, gluconic acid did not affect wholeness or color. Gel formation in the cover juice of tomatoes acidified with gluconic acid was not evident at any processing levels where microbes and enzymes were inactivated. By definitions of the USDA grades (1964), tomato flavor and quality were acceptable even at process levels where definite enzyme activity remained. However, since temperature response of pectic enzyme inactivation (z values between 11 and 23° C) is similar to that of some spores known to spoil acid foods (Pedersen 1929; NCA 1968; Leonard *et al.* 1975), shortening processes for canned tomatoes below enzyme inactivation levels should not be considered without further study of microbiological concerns.

CONCLUSIONS

Methods were developed to measure activities of pectin degrading enzymes in their natural tomato environment without extraction or purification. Heat resistance parameters of endogenous pectic enzymes in whole tomato homogenates were significantly different from those reported on purified enzymes. Results, in general, support commercial practices and offer an explanation for some enzyme problems in tomato concentrates.

Addition of 0.44% gluconic acid decreased heat resistance of pectin esterase and eliminated gel formation in the cover juice of canned whole peeled tomatoes. Heat resistance of polygalacturonase in tomatoes was not reduced by addition of up to 1.65% gluconic acid. Pectic enzymes in canned whole peeled tomatoes were inactivated by 35 min of processing at 98.9 and 101.7°C, by 26 min at 110°C and by 25 min at 118.3°C in a rotary pressure cooker. For high temperature processes that require high fill weights to meet drained weight requirements, control of fill weights may be critical to ensure adequate heat penetration to prevent microbial spoilage and sporadic survival of enzymes.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank American National Can Company for partial support of this project, the tomato processor who allowed use of his equipment, Drs. H. Patino

and B. S. Luh for valuable discussions and suggestions, and Karen Jo Hunter and Teri Wolcott for their contributions.

REFERENCES

- GARCES, M. B. 1963. Thermal effect on pectin retention and pectic enzymes in tomato juice. M. S. Thesis, Univ. of Calif., Davis.
- JUDGE, E. E. AND SONS. 1986. Pack Statistics, U.S. In *The Almanac of the Canning, Freezing, Preserving Industries*, Edward E. Judge and Sons, Westminster, MD.
- LEONARD, S., et al. 1975. Comparative procedures for calculating Steriflamme thermal processes. J. Food Sci. 40, 250.
- LIU, Y. K. and LUH, B. S. 1980. Quantitative aspects of pectic acid hydrolysis by endo-polygalacturonase from *R. arrhizus*. J. Food Sci. 45, 601.
- LUH, B. S. and DAOUD, H. N. 1971. Effect of break temperature and holding time on pectin and pectic enzymes in tomato pulp. J. Food Sci. 36, 1039.
- MCCOLLOCH, R. J., KELLER, G. J. and BEAVENS, E. A. 1952. Factors influencing the quality of tomato products. I. Surface localized pectic enzymes inactivated by blanching. Food Technol. 6(6), 197.
- MOSHREFI, M. and LUH, B. S. 1984. Purification and characterization of two tomato polygalacturonase isoenzymes. J. Food Biochem. 8, 39.
- MOY, J. H., LAU, N.B.H. and DOLLAR, A. M. 1978. Effects of sucrose and acids on osmovac-dehydration of tropical fruits. J. Food Proc. Preserv. 2, 131.
- NCA. 1968. In Laboratory Manual for Food Canners and Processors. Vol. 1, Van Nostrand Reinhold/AVI, New York.
- PEDERSEN, C. S. 1929. The types of organisms found in spoiled tomato products. New York State Agr. Exp. Sta. Bull. No. 150.
- POZSAR-HAJNAL, K. and POLACSEK-RACZ, M. 1975. Determination of pectinmethylesterase, polygalacturonase and pectic substances in some fruits and vegetables. I. Study into the pectolytic enzyme content of tomatoes. Acta Alim. Acad. Sci. Hung. 4(3), 271.
- SCHWIMMER, S. 1981. Source Book of Food Enzymology. Van Nostrand Reinhold/AVI, New York.
- USDA. 1964. United States Standards for Grades of Canned Tomatoes. Seventh Issue.
- WAGNER, J. R. and MIERS, J. C. 1967. Consistency of tomato products. I. The effects of tomato enzyme inhibition by additives. Food Technol. 21, 920.
- WHITAKER, J. R. 1972. Principles of Enzymology for the Food Sciences. Marcel Dekker, New York.
- YORK, G. K., et al. 1975. Thermobacteriology of canned whole peeled tomatoes. J. Food Sci. 40, 764.

DEVELOPMENT OF PRODUCTS CONTAINING MESQUITE (PROSOPIS spp.) POD FLOUR AND THEIR NUTRITIONAL AND ORGANOLEPTIC EVALUATION

F. R. DEL VALLE and E. MARCO

Fundacion de Investigaciones en Ciencias Alimentarias y Nutricion, A. C., Apartado Postal 1545, Sucursal C, Chihuahua, Chih., Mexico

R. BECKER and R. M. SAUNDERS

USDA-ARS Western Regional Research Center, Albany, CA 94710

Accepted for Publication March 20, 1989

ABSTRACT

A 100 mesh flour was prepared from mesquite pods and its proximate chemical composition, amino acid and vitamin content determined. The flour was tested as an ingredient in beverages, pinole, candy, butter, breakfast cereals, and yogurt. Nutritional attributes of the products are discussed and ingredient cost estimates calculated. Taste panel studies indicated the most desirable mesquite flour containing products were mesquite candy, chocolate/mesquite flour beverages, and breakfast cereals with added mesquite flour.

INTRODUCTION

Pods from native mesquite (*Prosopis* spp.) trees have long held an important niche in many arid land ecosystems, often serving as one of the primary uncultivated food energy sources for indigenous man and wildlife (Felker 1979). There has recently been a resurgence of interest in the domestication and exploitation of pods from mesquite trees for use as a crop for agricultural areas faced with a diminishing water supply (Meyer *et al.* 1986). Major elements in this utilization effort are the application of modern technological methods for processing the pods into edible components (Del Valle *et al.* 1986; Del Valle *et al.* 1987) and the production of mesquite containing foods based on current consumer interests, which is the impetus for this study.

Previous papers (Del Valle *et al.* 1986; Del Valle *et al.* 1987) have described the development and evaluation of processes for manufacture of mesquite pod (*Prosopis* spp.) flour. The process that produced the optimal organoleptic quality, yield and chemical and nutritional characteristics was identified as consisting of toasting the pods, pin milling and screening the resulting flour through 45 and 100 mesh screens. The fine material through the 100 mesh screen constituted the final product. It was found that two kinds of flour could be produced by toasting either at 125°C for 40 min (lightly toasted) or 150°C for 10 min (highly toasted). These processes have been carried out commercially with good results.

Following development of the industrial process to produce mesquite flour of good quality, uses for the flours had to be defined. The purpose of this work, therefore, was to identify different applications for the mesquite flours.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mesquite (*Prosopis* spp.) pods were collected in the area within and adjoining Chihuahua City, Mexico, and stored in polyethylene bags in a shaded area at room temperature until used. Mesquite flour was prepared from the pods as in Del Valle *et al.* (1986, 1987) by toasting at either 125°C for 40 min or at 150°C for 10 min. The toasted pods were pin milled and sieved and the material passing through the 100 mesh sieve was used as the flour.

Proximate analysis for moisture, nitrogen, ash, fiber, reducing and nonreducing sugars and vitamins B1, B2, C, A and niacin were performed in triplicate using AOAC (1980) methods. Amino acids were determined by a modified Spackman *et al.* (1958) ion-exchange method using a Durrum model D-500 amino acid analyzer. Cysteine and methionine were determined separately as cysteic acid and methionine sulfone after performic acid oxidation. The nitrogen to protein conversion factor was calculated according to Kohler and Palter (1967). Acid detergent fiber was determined as in Goering and Van Soest (1975). The protein efficiency ratio (PER) was determined by the method of Miller (1963) and Munro and Allison (1964).

Nine products were developed utilizing the lightly toasted mesquite pod flour. All were similar to products which are currently being manufactured in Mexico and which are extensively consumed by different population groups. These were as follows.

(1) Chocolate flavored beverage. Four parts of a commercial powdered chocolate beverage base (Table 1) were mixed with one part mesquite pod flour. The beverage was prepared by blending 5 heaping teaspoonfuls of the chocolate base/ mesquite pod flour mixture in 250 mL of milk.

(2) Strawberry flavored beverage. A commercial powdered strawberry beverage base (Table 1) was mixed in a 4:1 ratio with mesquite pod flour. The beverage

MESQC	THE FOD TLOOK	
Ingredient	Strawberry Beverage Base	Chocolate Beverage Base
Sugar (sucrose)	61.10%	57.36
Soy flour (full-fat)	18.86	18.86
Powdered oats (rolled, cooked)	15.44	15.44
Tricalcium phosphate	1.75	1.75
Salt (sodium chloride)	0.40	0.55
Vitamin and mineral mix	0.11	0.11
Artificial strawberry flavor	1.80	
Cocoa		4.72
Artificial chocolate flavor		1.00
Cinnamon flavor		0.18
Red coloring	0.04	
Brown coloring		0.02
Cream flavor	0.50	

TABLE 1.
INGREDIENT FORMULAS OF CHOCOLATE AND STRAWBERRY BEVERAGE
BASES AS UTILIZED FOR ENRICHMENT WITH LIGHTLY TOASTED
MESOUITE POD FLOUR

was prepared by blending 5 heaping teaspoonfuls of the strawberry flavored base/ mesquite pod flour in 250 mL of milk.

(3) Sweetened "horchata" type beverage. Four grams of powdered sugar were mixed with 5 g mesquite pod flour and 0.2 g powdered cinnamon. The beverage was prepared by blending 9.2 g base in 150 mL water.

(4) Pinole. Commercial "pinole" (coarsely ground toasted corn, 40 parts) was blended with 30 parts sugar and 10 parts mesquite flour.

(5) Pressed mesquite pod flour/peanut butter candy. Commercial peanut butter (35 parts) was blended with sugar (55 parts) and mesquite pod flour (10 parts), and the resulting blend was pressed to form round cakes 4 cm in diameter \times 2 cm high which were consumed without further processing.

(6) Mesquite pod butter. Five parts toasted mesquite pod flour was blended with 15 parts powdered sugar and 8 parts vegetable (safflower) oil.

(7) Farina and mesquite pod flour. Commercially produced dry Farina (Cream of Wheat) cereal (46 g), 9 g toasted mesquite pod flour and 2 g salt were boiled in 200 mL water until the usual consistency was attained.

(8) Rolled oats cooked with mesquite pod flour. Commercially produced rolled oats (94 g), 19 g mesquite pod flour and 4 g salt were boiled in 200 mL water to the desired consistency.

(9) Flavored yogurt blended with mesquite pod flour. Commercial strawberry flavored yogurt (98 parts) was blended with 2 parts mesquite flour.

Organoleptic evaluations of the products were carried out utilizing a 25-member untrained panel. Panelists scored the following quality attributes of each product utilizing a scale of 1 (minimum) to 9 (maximum): aroma, flavor, color, texture, and overall attributes.

The highly toasted mesquite pod flour was studied as an extender for cocoa or coffee. The cocoa extender application was evaluated by mixing commercially produced cocoa (Hersheys's brand) with different proportions of the highly toasted mesquite flour (0%, 25%, 50%, 75% and 100%). Five grams of the mixture were then blended with 200 mL milk and 12 g sugar. The resulting mixtures were evaluated for cocoa flavor by a five person untrained panel.

The use of highly toasted mesquite flour as a coffee extender was similarly evaluated by mixing the mesquite flour with instant coffee ("Nescafe" brand) in the same proportions (0%, 25%, 50%, 75%, 100%). Coffee/mesquite flour beverages were prepared by mixing 1.5 g of the blend in 150mL boiling water and the resulting beverages evaluated as to coffee flavor by the same five person untrained panel.

The costs of the products containing mesquite pod flour were estimated and compared with the costs of products that did not contain mesquite pod flour. The wholesale cost of the mesquite pod flour was determined by the manufacturing factory (Vega 1987); other mixture ingredient costs were based on current wholesale prices in Mexico.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The proximate chemical analysis (Table 2) of mesquite pod flour is similar to results for other mesquite pod flour preparations reported earlier (Del Valle *et al.* 1987). The total sugar (28%) and the high nonreducing sugar content (17.8%) undoubtedly account for the high degree of sweetness of mesquite pod flour. An important observation from Table 2 is that the high fiber content of mesquite pod flour (26.1%) makes it an excellent fiber fortifier for foods, in addition to its natural sweetening properties.

The amino acid content of the lightly toasted mesquite pod flour (Table 3) indicates the flour is nutritionally limiting in the essential amino acids lysine, threonine, methionine + cystine, and isoleucine. This is probably due to toasting and is reflected in the relatively low PER of 1.3 reported for the flour.

Component	Percent	
Moisture	3.9	
Ash	4.2	
Ether Extract	2.0	
Protein (N x 6.07)	10.1	
AOAC Fiber	16.9	
Acid Detergent Fiber	26.1	
Non-Reducing Sugars	17.8	
Reducing Sugars	10.2	
	Mesquite Pod Flour	Snap Beans Green, Raw
Vitamin B _l (Thiamin)	<0.01 mg/100 gm	0.08 mg/100 gm
Vitamin B ₂ (Riboflavin)	0.61 mg/100 gm	0.10 mg/100 gm
Niacin	3.56 mg/100 gm	0.50 mg/100 gm
Vitamin A	173 IU/100 gm	600 IU/100 gm
Vitamin C	5.49 mg/100 gm	19 mg/100 gm

TABLE 2. PROXIMATE CHEMICAL AND VITAMIN CONTENT OF LIGHTLY TOASTED MESOUITE POD FLOUR

The protein and fiber contents of products made with and without added mesquite pod flour are reported in Table 4. Addition of mesquite pod flour did not generally result in significant changes in protein content. A substantial increase was observed in the case of "horchata" (4.3% to 7.1%) while a substantial decrease was observed in the sweetened butters (7.8% for peanut butter vs 2.3% for mesquite butter).

In all cases, the fiber content was considerably enhanced by the addition of mesquite flour (Table 4). Increases were obtained with the chocolate and strawberry flavored beverage bases, which increased from 3.0% to 8.0%, "horchata" beverages from 4.9% to 15.2%, and cream of wheat from 3.0% to 7.0%. The commercial peanut butter contained 0.8% fiber which was increased to 5.0% fiber by the added mesquite pod flour. Smaller increases were observed in mesquite flour fortified yogurt (0.0% to 0.6%) and rolled oats (10.0% to 12.9%), although these amounts may well be nutritionally important in some situations.

Amino Acid	Mesquite Pod Flour, Lightly Toasted	FAO/WHO (19 Children's	FAO/WHO (1973) Children's Requirements g/16 g Nitrogen		
	g/16 g Nitrogen	g/16 g Nitu			
Isoleucine	2.7	3.7	73%		
Leucine	5.8	5.6	104		
Lysine ^a	3.5	7.5	47		
Total Sulfur Amino Acids	2.2	3.4	65		
Total Aromatic Amino Acids	5.8	3.4	170		
Threonine ^b	2.6	4.4	59		
Valine	4.0	4.1	98		

TABLE 3.
ESSENTIAL AMINO ACID COMPOSITION OF LIGHTLY TOASTED MESQUITE POD
FLOUR AND FAO ESTIMATED REQUIREMENTS FOR CHILDREN

^a First limiting amino acid.

^b Second limiting amino acid.

Cost estimates of the different products studied, with and without added mesquite flour, are reported in Table 4. Both the lightly and highly toasted mesquite flours would cost approximately \$0.66 per kilo (\$0.30 per pound). Table 4 shows that substitution with the mesquite flour would not appreciably affect the cost of most products.

The panelists' scores for the various mesquite pod flour products are shown in Table 5. The 'Overall Acceptance' panel rating was used to indicate which type of mesquite flour products would be most preferred by consumers. The products with the highest panel overall acceptance were the pressed mesquite/peanut butter candy and the chocolate flavored beverage (average scores for both were 7.1); these were closely followed by rolled oats/mesquite flour (average score 6.8) and pinole (average score 6.6). The mesquite pod butter and cream of wheat with mesquite pod flour both scored 6.5, while the strawberry flavored/mesquite pod flour beverage score 5.4) and the ''horchata'' type mesquite beverage (average score 4.4).

The texture of the beverages, candy, pinole and rolled oats were scored highest by the panel, indicating textural acceptability. The mesquite flour changed the texture of the farina product, as indicated by the lower panel score. The mesquite butter, yogurt, and horchata scored lowest.

Product	Percent	Percent	Price
	Protein	Fiber	US\$
Beverage Base Without Mesquite	17.5	3.0	1.01/kg
Beverage Base With Mesquite	16.6	8.0	0.94/kg
"Horchata" (Dry Basis)	4.3	4.9	0.29/kg
Mesquite "Horchata" (Dry Basis)	7.1	15.2	0.43/kg
Pinole Without Mesquite	3.8	0.8	0.37/kg
Pinole With Mesquite	4.2	3.4	0.39/kg
Peanut Butter Candy Without Mesquite Peanut Butter Candy With Mesquite	12.0 10.3	1.2 3.7	0.11/kg 0.10/kg
Peanut Butter, Sweetened	7.8	0.8	3.31/kg
Mesquite Pod Butter, Sweetened	2.3	5.0	1.68/kg
Farina Without Mesquite (Dry Basis) Farina With Mesquite (Dry Basis)	14.0 13.8	3.0 7.0	1.15/kg 1.07/kg
Rolled Oats Without Mesquite (Dry Basis) Rolled Oats With Mesquite (Dry Basis)	12.0 12.2	10.0 12.9	0.94/kg 0.90/kg
Yogurt Without Mesquite	3.5	0.0	1.11/L
Yogurt With Mesquite	3.7	0.6	1.10/L

TABLE 4. PROTEIN AND FIBER CONTENTS AND COST ESTIMATES OF PRODUCTS WITH AND WITHOUT ADDED MESQUITE POD FLOUR

The panel gave the highest Color rating scores of 7.0 to the chocolate/mesquite beverage, the strawberry/mesquite beverage, and the pressed mesquite/peanut butter candy followed by Pinole/mesquite flour with a score of 6.8. The lowest scores were for the "horchata" type mesquite beverage (4.7) and mesquite butter (4.4).

The highest average Flavor scores were assigned by the panel to the chocolate/ mesquite beverage (7.3) and the pressed mesquite/peanut butter candy (7.0), followed by mesquite pod butter (6.6) and the cereal products cooked with mesquite pod flour (rolled oats and cream of wheat), both of which scored 6.5.

Product	Overall Acceptance	Texture	Color	Flavor	Aroma
Mesquite Flour in Chocolate Beverage Base	7.1 ± 1.1	6.9 ± 0.9	7.0 ± 1.2	7.3 ± 1.2	6.7 ± 1.6
Mesquite Flour in Strawberry Beverage Base	6.4 ± 1.2	6.8 ± 1.1	7.0 ± 1.4	6.3 ± 1.2	5.3 ± 2.0
Mesquite Flour Enriched Horchata ^b	4.4 ± 1.1	4.8 ± 1.3	4.7 ± 1.4	4.8 ± 1.2	4.8 ± 1.1
Mesquite Flour Enriched Pinole	6.6 ± 1.7	6.7 ± 1.7	6.8 ± 1.7	6.3 ± 2.0	4.8 ± 2.2
Peanut Butter/ Mesquite Flour Candy	7.1 ± 0.9	6.8 ± 1.5	7.0 ±1.4	7.0 ± 1.3	5.1 ± 2.5
Mesquite Butter	6.5 ± 2.0	5.6 ± 1.8	4.4 ± 2.4	6.6 ± 2.0	3.4 ± 2.2
Farina Cooked With Mesquite Flour	6.5 ± 1.0	5.8 ± 1.5	5.9 ± 1.7	6.5 ± 1.3	5.6 ± 1.9
Rolled Oats Cooked With Mesquite Flour	6.8 ± 1.0	6.1 ± 1.6	5.8 ± 2.0	6.5 ± 1.5	5.8 ± 2.1
Plain Yogurt With Mesquite Flour	5.4 ± 1.0	5.6 ± 1.8	6.0 ± 1.8	3.6 ± 1.9	4.7 ± 2.2

 TABLE 5.

 AVERAGE SENSORY PANEL SCORES" OF MESQUITE FLOUR PRODUCTS

^a Results reported as mean \pm standard deviation.

"Horchata" is a beverage prepared from raw rice dispersed in water, which is lightly sweetened and cinnamon flavored; the product reported here was enriched with mesquite flour, as mentioned in the text.

^c "Pinole" is a toasted corn flour, mixed with sugar; the product reported here was enriched with mesquite flour; as mentioned in the text.

Lowest scores were those of "horchata" type beverage (4.8) and the mesquite/ yogurt mixture (3.6).

The highest "Aroma" scores were for the chocolate/mesquite beverage (6.7) with the lowest for the "horchata" type beverage (4.8), yogurt/mesquite mixture (4.7), and the mesquite flour butter (3.4).

Reasons given by panelists for choosing the preferred products were that mesquite pod flour conferred a malt-like flavor and a pleasant sweetness. Reasons for disliking the least-preferred products were either lack of flavor or poor consistency. It appears that mesquite pod flour does not possess sufficient flavor to be used alone, but when combined with more flavorful foods, it enhances and improves the resulting blends. Panel tests of the highly toasted mesquite flour used as a chocolate or coffee extender demonstrated that no flavor differences could be detected in blends containing up to 50% toasted mesquite pod flour. Use of 75% mesquite flour changed the flavor of the chocolate or coffee to a pleasantly unique combination of the components. Beverages containing 100% highly toasted mesquite flour have a pleasant chocolate-like flavor similar to toasted carob, which is not surprising since carob is a close botanical relative of mesquite.

Based on the above results, possible applications of the lightly toasted mesquite flour are visualized as flavor enhancer, natural sweetener, and fiber fortifier. As a flavor enhancer, lightly toasted mesquite pod flour produces a pleasant toasted malt-like flavor which enhances the organoleptic quality of such products as beverages, pinole, peanut butter candy and hot cereals. The sweetening properties are due to the high content of sugar and could readily replace refined sugar.

As a fiber fortifier, the lightly toasted mesquite flour will double and sometimes triple the fiber content of foods without adversely affecting organoleptic quality. This form of fiber fortification has a number of advantages; the fiber is in a finely divided form which is easily incorporated into many foods, no fibrous or rough texture is apparent in the fortified products as often occurs when cereals such as wheat bran are utilized, and fortification with mesquite flour in most cases enhances the flavor of the product being fortified.

The highly toasted mesquite flour has important potential applications as a chocolate or coffee extender. Both of these applications would result in substantial savings to users of these products.

REFERENCES

- AOAC. 1980. Official Methods of Analysis. Assoc. Official Analytical Chemists, Washington, D.C.
- DEL VALLE, F. R., MARCO, E., BECKER R. and SAUNDERS, R. M. 1986. Preparation of a mesquite (*Prosopis* spp.) pod enhanced protein reduced fiber fraction. J. Food Sci. *51*, 1215–1217.
- DEL VALLE, F. R., MARCO, E., BECKER, R. and SAUNDERS, R. M. 1987. Development and evaluation of a procedure to produce mesquite pod (*Prosopis* spp.) pod protein concentrate. J. Food Proc. Pres. 11, 237.
- FELKER, P. 1979. MesquiteL: An all purpose leguminous arid land tree. In *New Agricultural Crops*. (G. A. Ritchie, ed.), pp. 89–132. Westview Press, Boulder, CO.
- KOHLER, B. C. and PALTER, R. 1967. Studies on methods for amino acid analysis of wheat products. Cereal Chem. 44, 512.
- MEYER, D., BECKER, R., GUMBMANN, M. R., VOHRA, P., NEUKOM, H. and SAUNDERS, R. M. 1986. Processing, composition, nutritional eval-

uation, and utilization of mesquite (*Prosopis* spp.) pods as a raw material for the food industry. J. Agric. Food Chem. 34, 914–919.

- MILLER, D. S. 1963. A process for determination of NPU using rat body techniques: Evaluation of protein quality. Publ. No. 1100, Natl. Acad. of Sciences, Washington, D. C.
- MUNRO, H. N. and ALLISON, J. B. 1964. *Mammalian Protein Metabolism*, Academic Press, New York.
- SPACKMAN, D. H., STEIN, W. H. and MOORE, S. 1958. Automatic recording apparatus for use in the chromatography of amino acids. Anal. Chem. 30, 1190.
- VEGA, M. 1987. Productos Alimenticios Delicias, S. A. de C. V., Cd. Delicias, Chihuahua, Mexico. Private communication.
- WILSON, E., FISHER, K. and FUQUZ, M. E. 1965. Principles of Nutrition, John Wiley & Sons, New York.

APPLICATION OF RESPONSE SURFACE METHODOLOGY IN PROTEIN EXTRACTION STUDIES FROM BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN

R. DIPTEE,¹ J. P. SMITH,^{1.3} I. ALLI,¹ and S. KHANIZADEH²

^{1.2} Departments of Food Science and Agricultural Chemistry and Plant Science, McGill University, Montreal, Canada.

Accepted for Publication March 20, 1989

ABSTRACT

Effects of temperature of extraction, time of extraction, concentration of sodium dodecyl sulphate and Na_2HPO_4 in the extractant solution, particle size of grain and BSG:extractant ratio on the yield of protein solubilized from dried brewer's spent grain (DBSG) and pressed brewer's spent grain (PBSG) were studied simultaneously using a process optimization technique termed Response Surface Methodology (RSM). The initial fractional factorial screening design indicated that time, temperature and particle size of grain were significant variables while concentration of extractant had no effect on protein yield from either DBSG or PBSG. The mean yield of protein extracted from DBSG was 28.14% compared to 9.53% for PBSG. When a central composite rotatable design was subsequently applied to four variables, temperature, time, BSG:extractant ratio and concentration of Na_2HPO_4 in the extractant solution, with particle size of grain held constant at 1.5mm, all variables had a significant effect on protein yield from DBSG. Using multiple regression analysis, a second order polynomial model was derived and used to predict the yield of protein extracted from DBSG under various combinations of these four variables. Generation of contour plots enabled selection of levels for each variable to give a product with a desired protein concentration. Typically, a yield of approximately 60% protein could be obtained from DBSG using a concentration of 0.6% Na_2HPO_4 in the extractant solution, a BSG:extractant ratio of 2.5:100 and the mixture heated at 90°C for 95 min. The observed protein yield agreed well with the predicted maximum value using a RSM approach and demonstrated RSM as a powerful and elegant research tool when several variables are to be evaluated simultaneously.

To whom all correspondence should be sent

Journal of Food Processing and Preservation 13 (1989) 457-474. All Rights Reserved. © Copyright 1989 by Food & Nutrition Press, Inc., Trumbull, Connecticut.

INTRODUCTION

Brewer's spent grain (BSG) is the principle by-product from the brewing process and is used mainly as animal feed. Recently however, there has been increasing interest in its use in food and food products such as flour mixes, bread, cookies and meat products (Prentice *et al.* 1978; Finley and Hanamoto 1980).

Several studies have been done to develop methodology for protein extraction from BSG as the relatively high protein content of BSG, along with the fact that it is a continually available biomass resource, provides a sound basis for investigating this material as a source of commercial food protein (Satterlee 1984). Vassel et al. (1949) reported that BSG proteins were poorly soluble in solvents commonly used for extraction of proteins, namely, water, salt, dilute acid and dilute alkali while Bhumibhamon (1981) observed that acid and alkali proteases solubilized 30% and 36% of BSG nitrogen, respectively, in 24h. Preliminary studies by Ervin et al. (1988) have shown that BSG protein can be readily extracted from dried brewer's spent grain (DBSG) and pressed brewer's spent grain (PBSG) using an extracting solution consisting of 3% sodium dodecyl sulphate/0.5% Na₂HPO₄ (pH7.0) followed by precipitation of proteins with ethanol in conjunction with refrigeration as shown in Fig. 1. This procedure resulted in the recovery of approximately 50% and 23% of protein as a dried powdered concentrate from DBSG and PBSG respectively (Ervin et al. 1988). The objectives of the present study were to determine the conditions of extraction, (shown in Fig. 1), which could be used in conjunction with each other to optimize the yield of protein concentrate from BSG. Factors under investigation included temperature of extraction, time of extraction, particle size of BSG, concentration of sodium dodecyl sulphate, and Na₂HPO₄ in the extracting solution and BSG:extractant ratio. Since several factors were to be examined simultaneously in this study, the traditional one variable at a time experimental approach used in the initial study would be approximate and time consuming and would fail to take into consideration important interaction effects. In order to overcome the limitations of the one variable at a time approach and to adequately describe the effect of several factors simultaneously, including any important interactions, a process optimization technique termed Response Surface Methodology was used. RSM enables the calculation of an optimum yield based on a few sets of experiments in which all factors are varied within chosen ranges using factorial experimental designs and multiple regression analyses (Khuri and Cornell 1987). Developed initially for process optimization studies in chemical engineering, RSM has been applied to studies of casein extrusion (van de Voort and Stanley 1984), canola sauce production (Ma and Ooraikul 1986), folacin retention in cookies (Connor and Keagy 1981) and control of mold spoilage in bakery prod-



FIG. 1. FLOW DIAGRAM OF EXTRACTION PROCEDURE OF PROTEIN FROM BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN

ucts (Smith *et al.* 1988). This paper describes the experiments which lead to the determination of the optimal conditions required for the most efficient extraction of BSG protein and the advantages of RSM as a research tool in protein extraction studies from BSG.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Design

In order to determine the effects of individual factors on protein extraction from dried brewer's spent grain (DBSG) and pressed brewer's spent grain (PBSG), a preliminary fractional factorial screening design was performed. The fractional factorial design chosen was a half fraction of a 2^4 factorial design, i.e., a 2^{4-1} design, as described by Box *et al.* (1978) and the factors evaluated initially included temperature of extraction (50–100°C), time of extraction (30– 90 min), concentration of sodium dodecyl sulphate, (1–3%) and particle size of grain (1–2mm). The levels of each factor were selected from previous experimental results (Ervin *et al.* 1988) and practical possibilities for optimization of protein yield from BSG. In the screening design, the concentration of Na₂HPO₄

	Variable**					
Run# [*]	×1	x ₂	x ₃	×4	Pi re ('	rotein acovered %)
					DBSG	PBSG
1	-1	-1	-1	- 1	15.81	5.04
2	1	-1	-1	1	36.28	9.86
3	-1	1	-1	1	18.85	7.06
4	1	1	-1	-1	45.99	15.68
5	-1	-1	1	1	14.85	5.37
6	1	-1	1	-1	35.61	11.43
7	-1	1	1	-1	22.28	8.07
8	1	1	1	1	36.09	14.11

TABLE 1. A HALF FRACTION OF A 2⁴ FACTORIAL DESIGN (CODED) TO DETERMINE FACTORS INFLUENCING EXTRACTION OF PROTEIN FROM DRIED BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN (DBSG) AND PRESSED BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN (PBSG)

* Each run replicated twice for a total of 16 runs

** X_1 = Temperature ⁰C; X_2 = Time (min); X_3 = Conc. of extractant (SDS); X_4 = Particle size of grain.

in the extractant solution was kept constant at 0.5% v/v and the BSG:extractant ratio (w/v) was maintained at 5:100 throughout the design. The fractional factorial coded design for both DBSG and PBSG is shown in Table 1 and all experimental runs were carried out in a randomized order. Values of coded levels used in the fractional factorial design and method of coding, as described by Box *et al.* (1978), are shown in Table 2. A more elaborate 4 factor, 5 level Central Composite Rotatable Design (CCRD) of Box *et al.* (1978) was used for fitting second order response surfaces. Factors and levels of each factor in the CCRD (Table 5) were selected on the basis of significant regression coefficients generated from the initial screening design as those likely to optimize the response. In the CCRD, particle size was kept constant at 1.5mm and the meal:solvent ratio (w/v) was varied from 2.5:100 to 12.5:100. The concentration of sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) in the optimization design was kept constant at 0.5% and the concentration of Na₂HPO₄ in the extracting solution was varied from 0-1%v/v. The coded

		Coded Level	s*
Variable	-1	0	+1
Temperature, ⁰ C. (X ₁)	50	75	100
Time, min, (X ₂)	30	60	90
Concentration of SDS,** % (X ₃)	1	2	3
Particle size*** of grain, mm (X ₄)	1	1.5	2

TABLE 2. VARIABLE LEVELS AND CODED VALUES USED IN A HALF FRACTION FACTO-RIAL SCREENING DESIGN FOR PROTEIN EXTRACTION FROM DRIED BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN (DBSG) AND PRESSED BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN (PBSG)

* Coded variable (-1, 1) = Actual value -0.5 (High value + Low value)

0.5 (High value – Low value) ** SDS = Sodium dodecyl sulphate containing 0.5% Na₂HPO₄ (pH7.0) *** BSG:extractant ratio = 5:100(w/v)

levels of -2, -1, 0, +1, +2 used in a four factor CCRD (Table 5) were obtained from Box *et al.* (1978) and values of coded levels of variables used in the CCRD are shown in Table 6.

Procedure

Commercially produced DBSG (8.4% moisture, 4.51% Kjeldahl N, dry weight basis) and PBSG (74.4% moisture, 5.06% Kjeldahl N, dry weight basis) were obtained from Molson Breweries of Canada Ltd., Montreal, Quebec. Representative samples (500 g) of DBSG were ground (Mikro Sample Mill, Pulverising Co., Summit, NJ) to pass through 1–2mm sieves to give the required particle size of grain shown in the factorial screening design and the CCRD. For PBSG, previously frozen samples were thawed at room temperature, homogenized in a Waring blender and treated as described for DBSG.

For extraction of proteins in the preliminary fractional factorial screening design, five-gram samples of DBSG and PBSG were mixed with 100 mL amounts of extractant containing 1–3% SDS and 0.5% Na₂HPO₄ (pH 7.0) and the mixtures heated at the time-temperature combinations specified in the experimental design (Table 1). In the CCRD, five-gram samples of DBSG were refluxed with 100 mL of 0.5% SDS solution containing 0–1% v/v Na₂HPO₄ for the required time-temperature combination shown in the CCRD (Table 5). The BSG was separated from the supernatant by filtration using a California Buchner funnel and no vacuum. Proteins were precipitated by the addition of 95% ethanol followed by refrigeration at 4°C as described by Ervin *et al.* (1988). The precipitated proteins were recovered by centrifugation (9500 g, 0°C), washed with ethanol and ly-ophilized. Nitrogen contents of the protein concentrates were determined using a micro-Kjeldahl method (A.O.A.C. 1980; 47.021). The factor of 6.25 was used to convert % N to % crude protein.

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses (regression coefficients, analysis of variance and correlation coefficients) were computed using the Statistical Analysis System (SAS 1982). All 3 dimensional graphs and 2 dimensional contour plots were done using the SAS/Graph program on a McGill University mainframe and a Zeta Plotter.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Response Surface Methodology is a process optimization technique which determines optimum conditions by combining special experimental designs with modeling by first and second order polynomial equations in a sequential testing procedure. Initially in this study, a 2^{4-1} fractional factorial screening design was carried out (Table 1) and the actual levels of variables used in each experimental run are shown in Table 2. The main advantage of this class of design is that it enables one to study three or more variables simultaneously in a single experimental design of practicable size by confounding the main factors in their higher order interactions and to determine which variables have an important effect on the chosen response (Mullen and Ennis 1985).

The regression equations obtained from the initial screening design for both DBSG and PBSG are shown in Eq. 1 and 2, respectively.

$$Y = 28.14 + 10.24X_1 + 2.55X_2 - 1.04X_3 - 1.73X_4$$
[1]

$$Y = 9.52 + 3.13X_1 + 1.72X_2 + 0.23X_3 - 0.54X_4$$
[2]

Source	dF [*]	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F
Due to regression	4	1848.26	462.01	88.20 ^a
Temperature (X ₁)	1		1678.54	320.39 ^a
Time (X ₂)	1		104.44	19.94 ^b
Conc. of SDS (X ₃)	1		17.38	3.32 ^{ns}
Particle size of grain (X ₄)	1		47.88	9.14 ^C
Residual (Error	11	57.63	5.24	
Total	15	1905.89		
R ²⁺	0.97			

TABLE 3. ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF PRELIMINARY FACTORIAL SCREENING DESIGN FOR PROTEIN RECOVERED FROM DRIED BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN (DBSG)

* Degrees of freedom

Level of significance, a = p < 0.001Level of significance, b = p < 0.01

Level of significance, c = p < 0.01

ns = non significant

+ Coefficient of determination

The analysis of variance (ANOVA) for the preliminary screening designs are shown in Tables 3 and 4, respectively. The ANOVA for Y, yield of protein recovered, indicated that both models were highly significant (p < 0.001) and had R² values of 0.97 and 0.96, respectively, i.e., accounting for 97% and 96% of experimental variation after being corrected for the mean. Examination of the fitted coefficients for both equations using the F-test (1 d.f.) showed that temperature of extraction (X₁), time of extraction (X₂), and particle size of grain (X₄) were significant variables and could be used to optimize protein yield while concentration of extractant had no effect on protein yield from DBSG or PBSG.

Source	dF [*]	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F
Due to regression	4	209.25	52.31	73.43 ⁸
Temperature (X ₁)	1		156.37	219.51 ⁸
Time (X ₂)	1		47.26	66.35 ^a
Conc. of SDS (X ₃)	1		0.87	1.23 ^{ns}
Particle size of grain (X_4)	1		4.73	6.64 ^C
Residual (Error	11	7.84	0.71	
Total	15	217.08		
R ²⁺	0.96			

TABLE 4.
ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE OF PRELIMINARY FACTORIAL SCREENING DESIGN FOR
PROTEIN RECOVERED FROM PRESSED BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN (PBSG)

* Degrees of freedom

Level of significance, a = p < 0.001

Level of significance, c = p < 0.1

ns = non significant

+ Coefficient of determination

The effect of temperature on protein recovery from BSG confirmed previous results which showed an increase in nitrogen solubility from BSG as the temperature of extraction increased (Ervin *et al.* 1988). The lack of effect of SDS concentration was surprising since it was assumed that higher concentrations of SDS would result in greater solubilization of BSG proteins and hence an increased yield of recovered protein. The average yield of protein extracted from DBSG was approximately three times higher than the amount extracted from PBSG (28.14% compared to only 9.53%) which agreed with previous results of Ervin *et al.* (1988). In all likelihood, this difference is related to the lower dry matter content of PBSG.

	Variabie**					
Run# [*]	x ₁	×2	×3	×4	Protein rec from DBSG	overed 3 (%)
					Predicted	Observed
1	-1	-1	-1	-1	42.39	45.97
2	1	-1	-1	-1	45.19	47.36
3	-1	1	-1	-1	44.21	46.09
4	1	1	-1	-1	46.28	47.96
5	-1	-1	1	-1	47.74	49.84
6	1	-1	1	-1	50.48	50.36
7	-1	1	1	-1	51.87	53.39
8	1	1	1	-1	51.28	49.73
9	-1	-1	-1	1	24.93	25.43
10	1	-1	-1	1	28.39	27.57
11	-1	1	-1	1	27.84	29.82
12	1	1	-1	1	32.45	31.91
13	-1	-1	1	1	32.79	33.40
14	1	-1	1	1	42.54	43.28
15	-1	1	1	1	38.07	39.60
16	1	1	1	1	36.13	39.69
17	-2	0	0	0	38.86	37.76
18	2	0	0	0	48.29	51.28
19	0	-2	0	0	37.43	36.29
20	o	2	0	o	50.34	52.86
21	0	0	-2	0	27.91	25.90
22	0	0	2	0	44.34	45.78
23	0	0	0	-2	57.41	57.71
24	o	0	0	2	27.03	26.81
25	0	0	0	0	51.46	53.05

TABLE 5. CODED LEVEL COMBINATIONS FOR A FOUR VARIABLE CENTRAL COMPOSITE ROTATABLE DESIGN TO OPTIMIZE YIELD OF PROTEIN EXTRACTED FROM DRIED BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN (DBSG)

* Each run replicated twice for a total of 50 runs ** X_1 = Temperature, (°C); X_2 = Time, (min); X_3 = Conc. of phosphate, (%); X_4 = BSG:extractant ratio

Response Surface Methodology was then applied to predict the optimal levels of temperature and time of extraction, level of Na₂HPO₄ in the extractant solution and BSG:extractant ratio in combination with one another which could be used to optimize the yield of protein extracted from DBSG. Although particle size was significant in the screening design, it was kept constant in the response surface design at 1.5mm. Since the concentration of SDS had no effect on protein vield, its concentration was kept constant at 0.5% in the CCRD and the concentration of Na₂HPO₄ in the extractant solution varied from 0-1%. The Central Composite Rotatable Design (5 levels for 4 variables) used for fitting the second order response surface and uncoded levels used in each experimental run are shown in Tables 5 and 6, respectively. CCRDs have $2^{k} + 2k + 1$ treatment combinations where k equals the number of variables under study and the experimental design is said to be rotatable since the variance of the predicted response, Y, at designated points, (X's), is a function only of the distances of the points from the centre, rather than a function of their direction. This implies that the variance contours of Y are concentric circles and a design with this property will leave the variance of Y unchanged when the design is rotated about the center (0,0,0,0), leading to the term "rotatable" (Khuri and Cornell 1987).

Table 5 shows the protein recovered with the corresponding coded values of temperature of extraction (X_1) , time of extraction (X_2) , concentration of Na₂HPO₄

	511		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,			
		Levels				
- Variables	-2	-1	0	1	2	
Temperature, ⁰ C (X ₁)	80	85	90	95	100	
Time, min, (X ₂)	60	75	90	105	120	
Conc. of phosphate,% in SDS [*] (X ₃)	0	0.25	0.5	0.75	1.0	
BSG:extractant ratio % w/v (X₄)	2.5:100	5:100	7.5:100	10:100	12.5:100	

TABLE 6. VARIABLE LEVELS AND CODED VALUES USED IN CENTRAL COMPOSITE ROTATABLE DESIGN FOR PROTEIN EXTRACTION FROM DRIED BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN (DBSG)

* Concentration of Na₂HPO₄ in 0.5% sodium dodecyl sulphate

466

in the extractant (X_3) and BSG:extractant ratio (X_4) . The second order polynomial model using multiple regression analysis of the uncoded data is presented as Eq. 3:

$$Y = -463.89 + 10.03X_{1} + 1.22X_{2} + 26.61X_{3} - 208.77X_{4}$$

- 0.06X²₁ - 0.01X²₂ - 49.38X²₃ - 619.85X²₄ + 0.04 X₁X₂
+ 0.36 X₁X₃ + 2.53X₁X₄ + 0.03X₂X₃ - 0.09X₂X₄ + 28.36X₃X₄ [3]

Examination of the ANOVA of the fitted model (Table 7) indicated that the F-value and overall correlation coefficient (r) of the model were significant at p<0.05, the equation having an $R^2 = 0.87$ accounting for 87% of the variation in terms of extracted protein. The $F_{0.05}$ value for lack of fit (0.53) did not exceed the tabulated value of 2.57 (9,26 d.f.) indicating that lack of fit was not significant and therefore the fitted model was appropriate for the description of the response surface. With the regression coefficients obtained, the stationary point of the fitted surface was computed using the equations suggested by Khuri and Cornell (1987). The predicted yield, together with the coded and uncoded levels of variables at the stationary point, X_0 , are shown in Table 8.

TABLE 7. ANALYSIS OF VARIANCE FOR SECOND ORDER POLYNOMIAL MODEL FITTED TO YIELD OF PROTEIN (%) EXTRACTED FROM DRIED BREWER'S SPENT GRAIN (DBSG)

Source	dF	Sum of Squares	Mean Square	F
Due to regression	14	4214.71	301.05	16.65
Residual (Error)	35	633.06	18.08	
Lack of Fit*	9	93.81	10.42	0.503 ^{ns}
Pure Error	26	539.25	20.74	

* Lack of Fit Sum of Squares (SS) = Residual SS - Pure Error SS

ns = non significant

Variable	Coded	Uncoded
Temperature, ⁰ C (X ₁)	0.2	91
Time, min, (X ₂)	» 0.53	98
Conc of phosphate,% in SDS (X ₃)	0.56	0.64
BSG:extractant ratio % w/v (X ₄)	-2	2.5:100

	TABLE 8.
CODED AND UNCODED VALUES	OF VARIABLES AT STATIONARY POINT X ₀
(POINT OF MAXIMUM	YIELD OF EXTRACTED PROTEIN)

Predicted yield of extracted protein at stationary point = 58.95%w/w Observed yield of extracted protein at stationary point = 58.45%w/w

To determine the nature of the stationary point, canonical analysis, as described by Khuri and Cornell (1987), was carried out on the second order polynomial model to transform the fitted model to a new coordinate system with the origin at X_0 . The axes of the system were then rotated until they were parallel to the principal axis of the response surface. The canonical form of the equation demonstrating the nature of the response surface was:

y = 58.95 - 0.008 w₁² - 0.05 w₂² - 49.03 w₃² - 619.41 w₄²

where w_1 , w_2 , w_3 and w_4 are the axes of the response surface. It is evident that all the eigenvalues, i.e. -0.008, -0.05, -49.03 and -619.41 were all negative indicating that the stationary point was a maximum with the surface slightly extended towards the w_1 axis (Khuri and Cornell 1987).

The linear, quadratic and cross-product terms in the second order polynomial were used to generate 3 dimensional response surface graphs (Fig. 2–3) and 2



Figure 2 (R. Diptee et al. 1989)

FIG. 2. THREE DIMENSIONAL RESPONSE SURFACE GRAPH SHOWING THE EFFECT OF PHOSPHATE CONCENTRATION IN SDS SOLUTION AND MEAL:SOLVENT RATIO, WITH TEMPERATURE AND TIME OF EXTRACTION HELD CONSTANT AT 90°C AND 95 MIN, RESPECTIVELY, ON PROTEIN YIELD (%w/w) FROM DBSG

dimensional contour plots (Fig. 4–5) of protein yield from DBSG. As Fig. 2 illustrates, an increase in the Na_2HPO_4 concentration in the extracting solution and a decrease in BSG:extractant ratio with temperature and time of extraction held constant, resulted in an increase in protein yield from DBSG. The protein yield could also be increased by increasing temperature and time of extraction while keeping the concentration of Na_2HPO_4 and BSG:extractant ratio constant, as shown in Fig. 3. While these graphs can assist the researcher to determine the direction to take to increase a desired response and graphically show the





FIG. 3. THREE DIMENSIONAL RESPONSE SURFACE GRAPH SHOWING THE EFFECT STORAGE TEMPERATURE AND TIME OF EXTRACTION, WITH CONCENTRATION OF PHOSPHATE IN SDS SOLUTION AND MEAL:SOLVENT RATIO HELD CONSTANT AT 0.65% AND 2.5:100, RESPECTIVELY, ON PROTEIN YIELD (%w/w) FROM DBSG

nature of the fitted surface as maximum, minimum or a saddle point, it is difficult to determine levels of variables to give a specific protein yield from graphs such as these. This can more readily be achieved from contour plots of the same variables, examples of which are shown in Fig. 4 and 5, respectively. By referring to these plots, levels of factors can be selected to predict protein yield extracted from DBSG. For example, a protein yield of 40% w/w could be obtained by extracting DBSG in 0.5% SDS/0.1% Na₂HPO₄ using a BSG:extractant ratio of



Figure 4 (R. Diptee et al. 1989)

FIG. 4. TWO DIMENSIONAL CONTOUR PLOT SHOWING THE EFFECT OF PHOSPHATE CONCENTRATION IN SDS SOLUTION AND MEAL:SOLVENT RATIO, WITH TEMPERA-TURE AND TIME OF EXTRACTION HELD CONSTANT AT 90°C AND 95 MIN, RESPEC-TIVELY, ON PROTEIN YIELD (%w/w) FROM DBSG

14:100 and heating the mixture at 90°C for 95 min (Fig. 4). A higher protein yield (55% w/w) could be obtained at the same time-temperature combination by decreasing the BSG:extractant ratio to 4:100 and increasing the Na₂HPO₄ concentration in the extractant solution to 0.9% v/v (Fig. 4). A yield of 55% of extracted protein could also be obtained by decreasing the concentration of Na₂HPO₄ to 0.65% in the extracting solution and the BSG:extractant ratio to 2.5:100 and heating the mixture at 95°C for 80 min (Fig. 5). Using the conditions


Figure 5 (R. Diptee et al. 1989)

FIG. 5. TWO DIMENSIONAL CONTOUR PLOT SHOWING THE EFFECT STORAGE TEM-PERATURE AND TIME OF EXTRACTION, WITH CONCENTRATION OF PHOSPHATE IN SDS SOLUTION AND MEAL:SOLVENT RATIO HELD CONSTANT AT 0.65% AND 2.5:100, RESPECTIVELY, ON PROTEIN YIELD (%w/w) FROM DBSG

obtained at the stationary point, i.e., 91°C, 98 min, 0.64% $Na_2HPO_4/0.5\%$ SDS and BSG:extractant ratio of 2.5:100, a protein yield of 58.45% (mean of 10 replicates) was obtained which closely agreed with the calculated yield of 58.9% (Table 8).

In conclusion, RSM is an elegant statistical technique that uses quantitative data to determine and simultaneously solve multivariate equations which specify the optimum protein yield for a specified set of factors through mathematical models. This study has shown that by using RSM the scientist and/or manufacturer can consider a much wider range of combinations and factors to predict protein yield from DBSG than would normally be possible using the one variable at a time approach. According to Henika (1982) the advantages of RSM in food research can be summarized as follows:

- it provides more information in less time at less cost than the one variable at a time approach;
- it suggests combinations of the most important variables, processing and storage conditions to give a desired response and;
- (3) it allows the presentation of results in a readily understood graphical form.

While RSM has many advantages, it does have certain limitations, the major one being the selection of factor levels under investigation which are generally based on literature values, previous screening designs, practical experience, on regulatory constraints or on commercial specifications. Secondly, the results obtained by regression analyses are only estimates of protein yield from DBSG for a particular set of data and may vary for another set of experimental data. Thirdly, while the regression data can be used to predict the amount of protein extracted, it is inadvisable to extrapolate beyond the range of levels of factors actually used in experimental runs.

Despite these minor limitations, RSM is a powerful and elegant research tool when several variables are to be evaluated simultaneously. It is hoped that this application assists in making food researchers more aware of the RSM technique and the many advantages it offers in comparison to the traditional approach to experimentation in protein extraction studies from plant materials.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from Molson Breweries of Canada Limited and the National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada. The authors would also like to thank Molson Breweries of Canada for providing brewer's spent grain for this project.

REFERENCES

- AOAC. 1980 Official Methods of Analysis of Official Analytical Chemists. 13th edition. W. Horowitz (ed.)
- BHUMIBHAMON, O. 1981. Solubilizing effects of pretreatments of spent grains with crude proteolytic enzymes. Thai. J. Agr. Sci. 14, 5–8.

- BOX, G.E.P., HUNTER, W. G. and HUNTER, J. S. 1978. Statistics for Experimenters. An Introduction to Design Data Analysis & Model Building, 3rd ed., John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- CONNOR, M. A. and KEAGY, P. M. 1981. Folacin retention and cookie diameter in enriched cookies: Regression analysis using factorial design. Cereal Chem. 58, 239–244.
- ERVIN, V., ALLI, I., SMITH, J. P. and ZHUO, L. 1988. Extraction and precipitation of proteins from brewer's spent grain. J. of Can. Inst. Food Sci. and Technol. (In Press).
- FINLEY, J. W. and HANAMOTO, M. M. 1980. Milling and baking properties of dried brewer's spent grain. Cereal Chem. 57, 166–168.
- HENIKA, R. G. 1982. Use of Response Surface Methodology in sensory evaluation. Food Technol. 36, 96–100.
- KHURI, A. I. and CORNELL, J. A. 1987. Response Surfaces Design and Analysis, Marcel Dekker, New York.
- MA, A.Y.M. and OORAIKUL, B. 1986. Optimization of enzymatic hydrolysis of canola meal with response surface methodology. J. Food Proc. Preserv. 10, 155–160.
- MEAD, R. and PIKE, D. J. 1970. A review of response surface methodology from a biometric viewpoint. Biometrics. 31, 805–809.
- MULLEN, K and ENNIS, D. 1985. Fractional factorials in product development. Food Technol. 39, 90–103
- PRENTICE, N., KISSELL, L. T., LINDSAY, R. C. and YAMAZAKI, W. T. 1978. High fiber cookies containing brewer's spent grain. Cereal Chem. 55, 712–721.
- SATTERLEE, L. D. 1984. Utilization of proteins from biomass byproducts. Ind. Eng. Food Chem. Dev. 23, 278–285.
- SMITH, J. P., KHANIZADEH, S., VAN DE VOORT, F. R., OORAIKUL, B. and JACKSON, E. D. 1988. Use of Response Surface Methodology in shelf-life extension studies of a bakery product. Food Microbiol. 5, 163–176.
- STATISTICAL ANALYSIS SYSTEM. 1982. SAS User's Guide: Basics, Version 5. SAS Inst., Cary, North Carolina.
- VAN DE VOORT, F. R. and STANLEY, D. W. 1984. Improved utilization of dairy proteins: Coextrusion of casein and wheat flour. J. Dairy Sci. 67, 747– 758.
- VASSELL, B., STEPHENS, S. J. and CELUSTA-HOWARD, P. R. 1949. Solubility studies on the nitrogenous contents of spent brewer's grain. Cereal Chem. 26, 182–186.

KINETICS OF METHYLMETHIONINE SULFONIUM IN BUFFER SOLUTIONS FOR ESTIMATING THERMAL TREATMENT OF LIQUID FOODS¹

MARTIN F. BERRY,² RAKESH K. SINGH and PHILIP E. NELSON

Department of Food Science Purdue University/Smith Hall West Lafayette, IN 47907

Accepted for Publication September 8, 1989

ABSTRACT

Reaction kinetics of MMS degradation in sodium citrate buffer solutions followed a first order reaction kinetics in the temperature range of $121.1^{\circ}C-132.2^{\circ}C$ and the pH range of 4 to 6. Reaction rate constant ranged from 0.1260 to 1.1003 min⁻¹ and the corresponding D-values varied from 18.28 min to 2.09 min depending on the pH and temperature. Activation energy (117.1 - 135.4 kJ/mole) or Z-values (22.8 - 20.0°C) were slightly dependent on pH. The kinetic data was used for estimating potential decimal reduction in B. Stearothermophilus spores.

INTRODUCTION

The thermal processing of foods is one of the most prevalent methods used to preserve both low and high acid foods. Destruction of pathogenic and degradative microorganisms and enzymes is the primary objective of this process. However, other food quality characteristics such as organoleptic, cosmetic and nutritive elements may also be affected. All of these factors can be quantitatively measured or indexed against the time and temperature program to which they are subjected, i.e., the degree of thermal treatment of a product can be tied to a measurable index. Typically this index has been the thermal destruction of microorganisms to indicate the relative safety of the food product. Microbiological assays are often time consuming, completed several days after the process, subject to recovery and contamination problems, and require large population changes as evidence of the process. An alternative approach would be to use a

¹ Journal Paper No. 11,965 of Purdue Agricultural Experiment Station.

² Author Berry (formerly with Purdue University) is now affiliated with Gail Borden Research Center, Div. of Borden, Inc., 600 N. Franklin St., Syracuse, NY.

Journal of Food Processing and Preservation 13 (1989) 475–488. All Rights Reserved. © Copyright 1989 by Food & Nutrition Press, Inc., Trumbull, Connecticut.

measurable change in thermosensitive molecules as an index of the product's thermal treatment. The potential for rapid and timely analysis, elimination of recovery and contamination problems, and opportunity to measure at nanomolar or less levels suggest that some sort of chemical index may be more useful than using microorganisms in quantifying the extent of thermal treatment a product has received. In addition, chemical compounds may be used which are indigenous to the food, allowing for the continuous monitoring of a thermal process and being more natural in reflecting the actual heat treatment than would the use of indicator organisms which may be influenced by or may influence the heating characteristics of the product.

Using microbiological inoculated packs as indicators for the thermal processing of foods is a routine technique in the food industry. Utilization of chemical indices or other similar techniques has received little attention. Bounie and Cheftel (1986) demonstrated the use of peroxidase enzymes as indicators to characterize heating during extrusion; the change in meat texture was used by Tennigen and Olstad (1979) as a heating index; and Pettipher (1986) used anthocyanins as an indicator for the extent of fermentation cocoa leaves. Mulley *et al.* (1975) demonstrated the use of thiamine as a chemical index for sterilization efficacy and suggested that this approach is a "fertile ground for research and patent hunters"; this prediction has not yet developed probably due to the lack of identified compounds and their kinetics in various food systems. Lund (1975) summarized information on reaction rate versus temperature relationships for many microorganisms, enzymes, nutrients and quality factors in food. Okos (1986) edited a book which further expands this data base.

Destruction of microorganisms, textural changes, organoleptic change, nutrient destruction, color changes, development of new compounds and other physical-chemical changes in foods as a result of thermal processing have been typically found or classified as first order reactions (Lund 1975; Feliciotti and Esselen 1957; Mulley *et al.* 1975; Toledo 1986; Holdsworth 1985; Stumbo 1973). The slope of line obtained by plotting log concentration versus time is termed as the reaction coefficient (k), and can through a series of equations be used to develop the kinetics for compounds or microorganisms of interest.

Toledo (1986) suggested that since chemical degradation and microbiological inactivation of thermally processed foods are both first order reactions, they could be coupled in an expression to demonstrate their relationship in changes that occurs during processing. This assumes that the z-value is constant over the range of temperatures evaluated and that temperature is constant for any given process. Caudron (1988) rederived Toledo's equation to correct assumptions made regarding the Arrhenius equation. The correlation between microbial inactivation and chemical degradation is expressed as:

$$\log \frac{N_{o}}{N} = \left[\frac{D_{Mo}}{D_{Co}} \ 10^{(T_{o}-T)} \ \left(\frac{1}{Z_{m}} - \frac{1}{Z_{c}}\right)\right]^{-1} \log \frac{C_{o}}{C} \quad (1)$$

KINETICS OF MMS

where N and N_0 are viable microorganisms at time t and 0, respectively; C and C_0 represent the concentration of undegraded chemical components at time t and 0, respectively; T_0 and T are the reference temperature and process temperature, respectively; Z_m and Z_c are the Z-values in the temperature range of 121.1°C to 132.2°C for microbial and chemical species, respectively; and D_{Mo} and D_{Co} are the D-values at the reference temperature for the microbial and chemical species, respectively. Log N_0/N expresses the number of decimal reductions for the microorganisms during the process. Development of this equation is found in Berry (1988).

Methylmethionine Sulfonium is an appropriate prototype for investigation as an indicator compound in thermal processing. It is widely found in plants, with over 58 fruits and vegetables containing measurable levels. Its chemical reaction due to heat has been characterized and it is recognized to break down stoichiometrically to homoserine and dimethyl sulfide which can also be quantified. The development of kinetic data covering the high to low acid food range in a model system is an initial step in utilizing MMS as an indicator compound.

The objectives of this project were: (1) to provide the kinetic data from the thermal degradation of MMS with which the D-values and Z-values for MMS can be estimated, and (2) to use Eq. (1) for correlating the destruction of MMS with a low acid food sterility indicator microorganism.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental Design

A Latin Squares statistical design (Table 1) was employed to eliminate any sample or process bias (Neter and Wasserman 1974). Several experiments were conducted prior to the design of the Latin Square to evaluate time factors as influenced by temperature and pH. Since there is no published information on the effect of other environmental factors, such as oxygen concentration, light, ionic strength, trace metals, etc., on degradation kinetics of methyl methhionine sulfonium ion, we excluded these factors from our experiments.

Chemicals and Solutions

DL-methionine-S-methyl sulfonium chloride (MMS), dl-homoserine (HOM), dl-norleucine (NOR), and dl-pipecolic acid (PIP) representing two different lots, each were obtained from Sigma Chemical Co. (PO Box 14508, St. Louis, MO); likewise two different lots, each of citric acid and dibasic sodium phosphate were purchased from Mallinckrodt Inc. (St. Louis, MO) for preparation of buffer solutions. The lots were randomly divided into two groups, such that solution one (mix 1) would only have chemicals designated as group 1 and solution two (mix 2) would only have chemicals from group 2. Solutions of MMS (100 mM),

Temperature (°C)			pH ^I Time	4 5 6 (min.)		
121.1	0	1	6	10	14	18
126.7	0	1	3	6	12	16
132.2	0	1	2	3	6	9

TABLE 1. LATIN SQUARES EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN FOR MMS THERMAL PROCESSING AT VARIOUS LEVELS OF TEMPERATURE AND pH

HOM (100 mM), NOR (50 mM) and PIP (50 mM), were prepared using deionized distilled sterile filtered water for use as internal standards. NOR, PIP, and MMS solutions were combined at a 1:1:1 volume ratio and then added to pH 4, pH 5 or pH 6 buffer solutions at 3:97 ratio by volume. This resulted in a 1 mM solution of MMS with 0.5 mM internal standards of PIP and NOR. The buffer solutions were prepared according to McIlvaine (1921) and tested for pH using a Corning pH meter (Model 125). All solutions were stored at 4°C prior to use, and used within 24 h.

Thermal Processing

Ten mL solutions were dispensed into 208 \times 006 TDT cans (American National Can Company, Barrington, IL), which had previously been cleaned with petroleum ether and auto-claved for 20 min. Cans with lids were seamed on an Automatic Master Sealer (Wisconsin Aluminum Foundry Co., Inc., Manitowoc, WI). Seal integrity was evaluated by pre- and post-process weighing of the cans; no seal problems (i.e., change in weight) were encountered. All filled TDT cans were immediately frozen at -40°C until they were processed. Prior to testing, product was thawed for one hour at room temperature ($\simeq 20^{\circ}$ C), the TDT cans were then placed in a 7 slot rack, 6 cans with product according to the experimental design plus one can in the middle slot with a type "T" thermocouple placed in it to record the temperature. The thermocouple was inserted in the base of the can using a stuffing box for a retortable pouch (Item C-5.2, O. F. Ecklund, Cape Coral, FL). A 24 gauge thermocouple wire was used; the wire entered the TDT retort through the same type of stuffing box installed in the pod's lid. A cube of styrofoam was used to keep the wire tip from touching the can surface, therefore only recording the liquid temperature. A continuous strip chart recorder

KINETICS OF MMS

(Digistrip II, Kaye Instruments, Bedford, MA) was used to record the time and temperature. The rack of cans was placed in the TDT retort. The heating process occurred with constant steam venting followed at process completion with a cold water chill. Once processing was completed, the cans were refrozen at -40°C until the contents were assayed.

Analytical Preparation — Ion Exchange and Amino Acid Derivatization

Thawed cans were punctured, the solutions withdrawn by pipette and stored refrigerated in glass vials until used. The procedure for ion exchange and amino acid derivatization is detailed in Berry (1988) and Berry *et al.* (1989). Minor modifications were made to improve the volume consistency in the ion exchange columns by increasing the aliquot of ion exchange resin from 1.4 to 1.6 mL. Also the evaporator was changed to a Multihead Evaporator (Model III, Organomation Assoc., Inc.).

Statistical Analysis

SAS Institute (1985) general linear model was used to develop the statistical data base; the Bonferroni test and Dunn's multiple range test were used to compare the means.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Response Factors

Values for calculating MMS were determined based on the zero time response of MMS to the internal standards, NOR and PIP (Table 2). NOR was selected as the internal standard for most of the calculations.

TABLE 2. MMS RESPONSE FACTORS AT VARIOUS pH'S RELATIVE TO NOR AND PIP. USED FOR CORRELATING MMS LOSS; MEASURED IN SODIUM CITRATE BUFFER SOLUTIONS

				NOR	 		PIP	
Solution	Value	<u>N</u>	<u>s.d.</u> a	<u>c.v.</u> b	Value	<u>N</u>	<u>S.D.</u>	<u>c.v.</u>
Dd Water	. 4798	6	.0363	7.566	.5147	6	.0327	6.351
рН 4	. 4753	19	.0590	12.409	.4987	19	.0604	12.118
pH 5	. 4804	26	.0706	14.691	.5040	26	.0744	14.766
рН б	.4670	19	.0805	17.238	.4829	22	.0819	16.971

^a S.D. = standard deviation.

^b C.V. = coefficient of variation.

Statistical Analysis

To reduce experimental error, a Latin Squares experimental design was employed. To expand the base of the data, the two different mixes of solutions, were statistically analyzed and had no significant differences at P>.05 (Table 3). Consequently, the mix data was pooled for the analysis of the design using the General Linear Model.

The components of the design were temperature (treated separately), placement (order) of TDT cans in the retort pods, retort time, pH, day of process, and interactions between day of placement, time and pH (Table 4). As expected, significant differences (P>.05) were found within retort times and within the pH of the various solutions in their effects on MMS degradation for all three processing temperatures (121.1, 126.7, 132.2 °C). Again as expected (and desired), the day of processing and interactions between can placement and pH were not significant (P > .05) for the three temperatures. What was unexpected was a significant interaction between processing time and day for 121.1°C which should not have occurred; no such interactions were observed for the 126.7 and 132.2°C process. The interaction between day and time at 121.1°C suggested that the same processing times had significantly different effects on MMS destruction on different days. A closer examination of the results showed that samples processed in TDT retort number 4 out of total 6 had analytical values for MMS that were outliers compared to the other values. When the outliers were removed from the statistical analysis, it was found that time and day no longer had significant interactions. The analysis of the experimental design showed only significant effects for time and pH with temperature and therefore the kinetics for MMS could be developed without influence of other interactions.

	AS INTERNAL S	STANDARD.	
ali in a fagin di secolo de	Pr	PR > F ocess Temperature	
рН	121.1°C	126.7°C	132.2°C
4	.9549 ^a	.5735 ^a	.4500 ^a
5	. 65 14	.5869	.7041
6	.6652	.2314	.7732

TABLE 3.

COMPARISON OF THERMALLY PROCESSED MIX 1 AND MIX 2 MMS CHEMICAL LOTS. MIXES PREPARED IN SODIUM CITRATE BUFFER SOLUTIONS, AND PROCESSED IN THE TDT RETORTS AT INDICATED TEMPERATURES. NOR USED AS INTERNAL STANDARD

^a The means within each lot were not significantly different according to the Bonferroni T Test at P>.05.

		PR > E	7		
Design Component	Degrees of Freedom	Proce 121.1°C	ess Tempera 126.7°C	132.2°C	Comment
Placement In Retort Pod	5	.2648	.3531	.2102	N.S. ^b
Retort Time	4	.0001	.0001	.0001	Significant effect
Treatment (pH)	5	.0003	.0051	.0002	Significant effect
Process Day	1	.2889	.0637	.1357	N.S.
Day * Placement	5	.8169	.1188	.6882	N.S.
Day * Time	4	.0117 ^a	.6657	.9927	N.S.
Day * Treatment (pH	1) 5	.5157	.9295	.9999	N.S.

TABLE 4. GENERAL LINEAR MODEL STATISTICAL ANALYSIS OF THE LATIN SQUARES MODEL DESIGN COMPONENTS FOR THE CHEMICAL KINETICS OF MMS. NOR AS INTERNAL STANDARD. P >.05.

^a When outliers from pod 4 are removed PR>F becomes .2732 and is not a significant effect. ^b N.S. = not significant.

The outlier data points were not eliminated from the data base used to develop the kinetic information; this was in part due to the inability to establish a cause for the outliers such as analytical error or equipment malfunction (Neter and Wasserman 1974).

Chemical Kinetics of MMS

Table 5 summarizes the kinetic equations used in determining k, D-value, Z-value and activation energy for MMS. Figure 1 shows the heat penetration curve for the TDT thermal process; the cans reached process temperature within 15 s which suggests that the system was well mixed. This time lag should not affect reaction rate, k, according to Feliciotti and Esselen (1957). They suggested that if the thermal destruction of the compound (MMS) followed a first order reaction rate, then the initial concentration does not have influence on the characteristics of the reaction. Therefore the small losses encountered during the heating and cooling periods do not affect the nature of the rate constants. The loss of MMS was evaluated for both pH and temperature over time and plotted as classical least squares lines for first order chemical reactions as shown in Fig. 2.

TA	BI	LE	5.	
1 / 1			2.	

REACTION KINETIC EQUATIONS FOR MMS AND MICROORGANISM DESTRUC-TION. USED IN CALCULATING THE D-VALUE, HALF-LIFE (t1/2), z-VALUE AND ACTIVATION ENERGY (Ea) FOR A FIRST ORDER REACTION (LUND 1975).

	DESCRIPTION	SYMBOL	EQUATION	UNITS
1.	First Order Reaction	k	$\log \frac{C}{C_0} = \frac{-k}{2.303} t$	min ⁻¹
2.	D-value (Log Base)	D	$D = \frac{2.303}{k}$	min
3.	Half-life	tł	$t_2^1 = \frac{0.693}{k}$	min
4.	z-value	z	$\log \left(\frac{k_1}{k}\right) = \left(\frac{T_0 - T}{z}\right)$	°C
5.	Activation Energy	Ea	$E_a = \frac{2.303 \text{ RTT}_o}{z}$	J/g mole

Where: $C_o = initial conc.$ of reactant

C = conc. of reactant at any time

 $\begin{array}{l} T = time \\ T = reference temperature, K \\ T = temperature at Z^{\circ}C less than T_{\circ} in K \\ R = gas constant 8.314 kJ/kg K \end{array}$

The slopes of Fig. 2 was used to obtain the reaction velocity coefficients, k, for the first order reactions. These are shown in Table 6, along with the D-value. and half life for the destruction of MMS. As the pH increased from 4 to 6, the reaction rate constant increased by 2.54 times at 121.1°C and 2.84 times at 132.2°C. When temperature increased from 121.1°C to 132.2°C, the reaction rates for pH 4 increased 3.07 times while at pH 6 they increased 3.6 times. Williams (1973) found similar trends when measuring DMS, a product of MMS thermal degradation, over the range of 82°C to 99°C in citrate buffers at pH's of 4, 5, 6 using gas chromatography. Kovatscheva (1978), using thin layer chromatrography found similar values over a temperature range of 62°C to 122°C in citrate buffers from pH 4 to pH 8. The reaction rate increases as the pH goes from 4 to 6 confirming that the reaction is strongly base driven. This had been suggested by Ramirez et al. (1973).

Table 7 shows the Z-values for pH of 4, 5, 6. The values are somewhat similar but slightly pH dependent. The increasing value for activation energy from pH 4 to pH 6 is consistent because the MMS degradation reaction is base driven. Williams (1973) found similar values for Z-value and activation energy (E_a).



FIG. 1. HEAT PENETRATION CURVE FOR THERMAL PROCESSING OF MODEL SOLUTIONS IN TDT CANS "T" type thermocouple placed in center can of a 7 can rack and processed in a TDT retort. Legend: °C: 121.1 (□), 126.7 (+), 132.2 (◊).

MMS Concentration and Microbe Reduction

To compare the decimal reduction of a standard microorganism often used as a sterilization indicator to the change in concentration of MMS due to thermal processing, *Bacillus stearothermophilus* (BS) was selected. Literature values (Stumbo 1973) for BS used were $D_{Mo} = 4$ min at pH 5 and 5 min at pH 6, $Z_m = 7.8^{\circ}$ C at pH 5 and 12.2°C at pH 6 and $T_o = 121.1^{\circ}$ C. These values were used for the evaluation of decimal reduction in BS due to decimal reduction in MMS using Eq. (1). The relationship between decimal reduction in MMS concentration and decimal reduction of BS for pH 5 and 6 at varying temperatures is shown in Fig. 3. It appears that MMS is best suited for indexing the microbial lethality at high temperature and low pH combination as compared to that of low temperature and high pH combination.

It should be noted that Z-value of MMS degradation is quite high (20°C) as compared to Z-value of BS inactivation. Therefore, in a system which is not well mixed and where temperature gradients occur (e.g., canned foods), care



FIG. 2. FIRST ORDER REACTION KINETIC CURVES FOR MMS DEGRADATION A-pH 4, B-pH 5, c-pH 6; 121.1°C (□), 126.7°C (*), 132.2°C (Δ).

TABLE 6.

REPORTED FOR THE	REGRES	SSION EQUATI	ON USED F	OR GENERA	TING k.
Temperature (°C)	рН	k(min ⁻¹)	D(min) ^a	t½(min)	R ²
121.1	4	0.1260	18.28	5.5	.9048
	5	0.1559	14.77	4.4	.9089
	6	0.3058	7.53	2.3	.8333
126.7	4	0.2572	8.95	2.7	.9521
	5	0.3351	6.87	2.1	.9573
	6	0.6937	3.32	1.0	.9766
132.2	4	0.3876	5.95	1.8	.9693
	5	0.5375	4.28	1.3	.9641
	6	1.1003	2.09	0.6	.9752

REACTION VELOCITY COEFFICIENTS (k), D-VALUES AND HALF-LIFE (t¹/₂) FOR MMS DESTRUCTION. DETERMINED IN SODIUM CITRATE BUFFER SOLUTIONS WITH TEMPERATURE BETWEEN 121.1 AND 132.2°C BASED ON NORLEUCINE AS THE INTERNAL STANDARD. THE COEFFICIENT OF CORRELATION (R²) IS REPORTED FOR THE REGRESSION EOUATION USED FOR GENERATING k.

 ^{a}D = time required to reduce the concentration of a component by 90%.

must be taken such that the residual MMS in all parts of the product be determined. By contrast, the low Z-value of microorganisms usually result in negligible number of survivors around the portions of the product which is the fastest heating, therefore, survivors at the slowest heating part of the material usually represent most of the survivors.

TABLE 7. Z-VALUE AND ACTIVATION ENERGY (E_a) FOR MMS DESTRUCTION. DETERMINED IN SODIUM CITRATE BUFFERED SOLUTIONS WITH TEMPERATURES BETWEEN 121.1 AND 132.2°C BASED ON NORLEUCINE AS THE INTERNAL STANDARD.

рН	z °C ^a	$E_a \left(\frac{kJ}{mole}\right)$
4	22.8	117.1
5	20.7	130.4
6	20.0	135.4

^a Temperature change required to reduce D by 90%.



FIG 3. DECIMAL REDUCTION IN *B. STEAROTHERMOPHILUS* SPORES AS A FUNCTION OF DECIMAL REDUCTION IN MMS CONCENTRATION 1:132.2°C & pH 5, 2:126.7 & pH 5, 3:121.1°C & pH 5, 4:132.2°C & pH 6, 5:126.7°C & pH 6, 6:121.1°C & pH 6.

CONCLUSION

Kinetics of MMS show it to be a first order reaction over a pH range of 4 to 6, covering the area from high and low acid foods. Kinetic data was developed for the UHT aseptic processing range of 121.1° C to 132.2° C. Reaction rate constants were both pH and temperature dependent. The rate constants increased 2.54 times or more as the pH became more basic going from pH 4 to 6, while rate constants increased more than 3 times when the temperature was increased by 11.1° C. The kinetic data was used to correlate MMS destruction with reduction of microorganisms *B. stearothermophilus*.

REFERENCES

BERRY, M. F. 1988. A new method for determining thermal treatment of

particulate foods for aseptic processing. Ph.D. Thesis, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN.

- BERRY, M. F., NELSON, P. E. and RHODES, D. 1989. Development of gas chromatography method for methylmethionine sulfonium analysis. J. Food Sci. (Submitted).
- BOUNIE, D. and CHEFTEL, J. D. 1986. The use of tracer and thermosensitive molecules to assess flow behavior and severity of heat processing during extrusion-cooking. In *Pasta and Extrusion Cooked Foods*, (Ch. Mercier and C. Cantarelli, eds.) p. 148. Elsevier Applied Science Publ., London.
- CAUDRON, J. L. 1988. Private communication. BSN Group CREALIS (Centre de Recherches et d'Etudes Alimentaires) BSN Branche Epicerie, Brive, France.
- FELICIOTTI, E. and ESSELEN, W. B. 1957. Thermal destruction rates of thiamine in pureed meats and vegetables. Food Technol. 11, 77.
- HOLDSWORTH, S. D. 1985. Optimization of thermal processing—A review. J. Food Eng. 4, 89.
- KOVATSCHEVA, E. G. 1978. Bestaendigkeit von S-methylmethionin (Vitamin U) in Pufferloesungen und Pflanzensaeften bei thermischer Behandlung. Nahrung 22(3), 315.
- LUND, D. 1975. Heat processing. Ch. 3. In Principles of Food Science, Part II. Physical Principles of Food Preservation, (O. R. Fennema, ed.) p. 31, Marcel Dekker, New York.
- McILVAINE, T. C. 1921. A buffer solution for colorimetric comparison. J. Biol. Chem. 49, 183.
- MULLEY, E. A., STUMBO, C. R. and HUNTING, W. M. 1975. Kinetics of thiamine degradation by heat. J. Food Sci. 40, 985.
- NETER, J. and WASSERMAN, W. 1974. Applied Linear Statistical Models, Richard D. Irwin, Homewood, IL.
- OKOS, M. R. (ed.) 1986. *Physical and Chemical Properties of Food*, American Society of Agricultural Engineers. St. Joseph, MI.
- PETTIPHER, G. L. 1986. An improved method for the extraction and quantitation of anthocyanins in cocoa beans and its use as an index of the degree of fermentation. J. Sci. Food Agric. 37, 289.
- RAMIREZ, F., FINNAN, J. L. and CARLSON, M. 1973. In vitro decomposition of S-methylmethionine sulfonium salts. J. Org. Chem. 38(15), 2597.
- SAS INSTITUTE, INC. 1985. SAS User's Guide: Statistics, Version 5 Edition. Cary, NC.
- STUMBO, C. R. 1973. *Thermobacteriology in Food Processing*, 2nd Ed. Academic Press, New York.
- TENNIGEN, A. and OLSTAD, S. 1979. Computer controlled heating of meat with respect to protein denaturation. Ch. 15. In *Food Process Engineering*

Vol. 1. Food Processing Systems, (P. Linko, et al. eds) Applied Science Publ., London.

- TOLEDO, R. T. 1986. Postprocessing changes in aseptically packed beverages.J. Agric. Food Chem. 34(3), 405.
- WILLIAMS, M. P. 1973. Dimethyl sulfide: Methodology, precursor kinetics and vegetable product evaluation. Ph.D. Thesis, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN.

AUTHOR INDEX

- ADEYEMI, I.A., KOMOLAFE, A. and AKINDELE, A. O. Properties of Steam Blanched Maize Flour as a Constituent of Weaning Food 133
- AKINDELE, A. O. See ADEYEMI, I.A. et al.
- ALLI, I. See DIPTEE, R. et al.
- ANDERSON, J. L. See GOODRICH, R. M. et al.
- ANGEL, S. See HWANG, J. W. et al.
- BECKER, R. See DEL VALLE, F. R. et al.
- BERRY, M. F., SINGH, R. K. and NELSON, P. E. Kinetics of Methylmethionine Sulfonium in Buffer Solutions for Estimating Thermal Treatment of Liquid Foods 475
- BOLIN, H. R. and HUXSOLL, C. C. Storage Stability of Minimally Processed Fruit 281
- BORHAN, M. See GAZZAZ, S. S. et al.
- BOUZAS, J. O. See TORRES, J. A. et al.
- BREENE, W. M. See LABUZA, T. P.
- BUCK, E. M. See VARELTZIS, K. et al.
- CARRILLO-PEREZ, S. O., SERNA-SALDIVAR, S. O. and ROUZAUD-SANDEZ, O. Effect of Storage Conditions and Packaging Materials on the Physicochemical, Microbiological and Sensory Properties of Corn Dry Masa Flour 335
- CASH, J. N. See SANTERRE, C. R. et al.
- CHOI, Y. and VILLOTA, R. Development of Kinetic Models for Methionine Degradation in Fortified Soybean Model Systems 355
- CHOI, Y. and VILLOTA, R. Prediction of Methionine Retention During Extrusion Processing of Fortified Soybean Model Systems 385
- CHRISTENSON, M. E., TONG, C. H. and LUND, D. B. Physical Properties of Baked Products as Functions of Moisture and Temperature 201
- CLYDESDALE, F. M. See DESROSIERS, T.
- COLEMAN, A. A. and OORAIKUL, B. Characteristics of Pure Culture Canola Sauce Fermentation 245
- DEL VALLE, F. R., MARCO, E., BECKER, R. and SAUNDERS, R. M. Development of Products Containing Mesquite (*Prosopis* spp.) Pod Flour and Their Nutritional and Organoleptic Evaluation 447
- DESROSIERS, T. and CLYDESDALE, F. M. Effectiveness of Organic Chelators in Solubilizing Calcium and Zinc in Fortified Cereals Under Simulated Gastrointestinal pH Conditions 307

- DIPTEE, R., SMITH, J. P., ALLI, I. and KHANIZADEH, S. Application of Response Surface Methodology in Protein Extraction Studies From Brewer's Spent Grain 457
- DONG, F. M., LEE, C. J., RASCO, B. A. and HUNGATE, F. P. Effects of Gamma-Irradiation on the Contents of Thiamin, Riboflavin and Vitamin B-12 in Dairy Products for Low Microbial Diets 233
- DONG, F. M. See GAZZAZ, S. S.
- GAZZAZ, S. S., RASCO, B. A., DONG, F. M. and BORHAN, M. Effects of Processing on the Thiamin, Riboflavin and Vitamin B-12 Content of Fermented Whole Grain Cereal Products 321
- GOODRICH, R. M., ANDERSON, J. L. and STOEWSAND, G. S. Glucosinolate Changes in Blanched Broccoli and Brussel Sprouts 275
- HALL, K. N. See HWANG, J. W. et al.
- HEIL, J. R., McCARTHY, M. J., McINTYRE, D. J. and MERSON, R. L. Influence of Gluconic Acid on Thermal Processing Requirements for Canned Whole Peeled Tomatoes 431
- HULTIN, H. O. See VARELTZIS, K.
- HUNGATE, F. P. See DONG, F. M. et al.
- HUXSOLL, C. C. See BOLIN, H. R.
- HWANG, J. W., ANGEL, S., KINSMAN, D. M. and HALL, K. N. Preparation of Fermented Sausages from Underutilized Fish and Meat Sources 187
- ISHIKAWA, M., MORI, S., WATANABE, H. and SAKAI, Y. Softening of Fish Bone. II. Effect of Acetic Acid on Softening Rate and Solubilization Rate of Organic Matter from Fish Bone 123
- JAN, M. See WAHID, M.
- JIANG, Z. and OORAIKUL, B. Reduction of Nonenzymatic Browning in Potato Chips and French Fries with Glucose Oxidase 175
- KAREL, M. See TORRES, J. A. et al.
- KHAN, I. See WAHID, M. et al.
- KHANIZADEH, S. See DIPTEE, R. et al.
- KIM, C. H., MAGA, J. A. and MARTIN, J. T. Properties of Extruded Dried Distiller Grains. (DDG) and Flour Blends 219
- KOMOLAFE, A. See ADEYEMI, I. A. et al.
- KOMOLPRASERT, V. and OFOLI, R. Y. Mathematical Modeling of Microwave Heating by the Method of Dimensional Analysis 87
- LABUZA, T. P. and BREENE, W. M. Applications of "Active Packaging" for Improvement of Shelf-Life and Nutritional Quality of Fresh and Extended Shelf-Life Foods 1
- LAUS, M. J. See VARELTZIS, K. et al.
- LEACH, T. F. See SANTERRE, C. R. et al.
- LEE, C. J. See DONG, F. M. et al.

- LIN, C. S. See ZAYAS, J. F.
- MAGA, J. A. and VAN EVEREN, K. E. Chemical and Sensory Properties of Whole Wheat Pasta Products Supplemented with Wheat-Derived Dried Distillers Grain (DDG)
 71
- MAGA, J. A. See KIM, C. H.
- MARCO, E. See DEL VALLE, F. R. et al.
- MARCUS, C. L. See SEGNER, W. P. et al.
- MARTIN, J. T. See KIM, C. H.
- McCARTHY, M. J. See HEIL, J. R. et al.
- McGUIRE, J. and SWARTZEL, K. R. The Influence of Solid Surface Energetics on Macromolecular Adsorption from Milk 145
- McINTYRE, D. J. See HEIL, J. R. et al.
- MERSON, R. L. See HEIL, J. R. et al.
- MORI, S. See ISHIKAWA, M. et al.
- NELSON, P. E. See BERRY, M. F. et al.
- OFOLI, R. Y. See KOMOLPRASERT, V.
- OORAIKUL, B. See JIANG, Z.
- OORAIKUL, B. See COLEMAN, A. A.
- RAGUSA, T. J. See SEGNER, W. P. et al.
- RASCO, B. A. See DONG, F. M. et al.
- RASCO, B. A. See GAZZAZ, S. S. et al.
- ROUZAND-SANDEZ, O. See CARRILLO-PEREZ, E. et al.
- SAKAI, Y. See ISHIKAWA, M. et al.
- SANTERRE, C. R., LEACH, T. F. and CASH, J. N. The Influence of Sucrose Polyester, Semperfresh[™], on the Storage of Michigan Grown "McIntosh" and "Golden Delicious" Apples 293
- SATTAR, A. See WAHID, M. et al.
- SAUNDERS, R. M. See DEL VALLE, F. R. et al.
- SEGNER, W. P., RAGUSA, T. J., MARCUS, C. L. and SOUTTER, E. A. Biological Evaluation of a Heat Transfer Simulation for Sterilizing Low-Acid Large Particulate Foods for Aseptic Packaging 251
- SERNA-SALDIVAR, S. O. See CARRILLO-PEREZ, E. et al.
- SINGH, R. K. See BERRY, M. F. et al.
- SMITH, J. P. See DIPTEE, R. et al.
- SOUTTER, E. A. See SEGNER, W. P. et al.
- STOEWSAND, G. S. See GOODRICH, R. M. et al.
- SWARTZEL, K. R. See McGUIRE, J.
- TONG, C. H. See CHRISTENSON, M. E. et al.
- TORRES, J. A., BOUZAS, J. O. and KAREL, M. Sorbic Acid Stability During Processing and Storage of an Intermediate Moisture Cheese Analog
 TORRES, J. A. See VOJDANI, F.

VAN EVEREN, K. E. See MAGA, J. A.

VARELTZIS, K., BUCK, E. M., HULTIN, H. O. and LAUS, M. J. Fish Gel Formation Without Added Salt: Improvement Via Mixed Species 107 VILLOTA, R. See CHOI, Y.

- VOJDANI, F. and TORRES, J. A. Potassium Sorbate Permeability of Methvlcellulose and Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose Multi-Layer Films 417
- WAHID, M., SATTAR, A., JAN, M. and KHAN, I. Effect of Combination Methods on Insect Disinfestation and Quality of Dry Fruits 79
- ZAYAS, J. F. and LIN, C. S. Protein Solubility of Two Hexane-Defatted Corn Germ Proteins and Soy Protein 161

SUBJECT INDEX

Apples Fresh, 293 Aseptic processing Particulates, 251 Baked products, 201 Blanching Broccoli, 275 Brussel sprouts, 275 Browning Nonenzymatic, 175 Calcium Cereals, 307 Canola Fermentation, 245 Cereals Minerals, 307 Extrusion Dried distillers grains, 219 Fermentation Canola, 245 Cereals, 321 Fish Bone softening, 123 Gel, 107 Sausage, 175 Flour Extruded, 219 Maize, 133 Masa, 335 Mesquite pod, 447 Food Weaning, 133 Fouling Milk, 145 French fries, 175

Fresh food Shelf-life, 1, 281, 293 Fruits Dry. 79 Fresh, 281 Gel Fish, 107 Gluconic acid Tomato processing, 431 Glucose oxidase, 175 Hurdle technology, 79 Intermediate moisture Cheese, 409 Irradiation Dairy products, 233 Mathematical modeling, 87, 385, 457, 475 Microwave, 87 Milk Adsorption onto surfaces, 145 Minerals Cereals, 307 Nutritional quality Cereal products, 321 Fresh and extended shelf-life, 1 Irradiation, 233 Packaging, 1, 293, 335 Films, edible, 417 Pasta Dried distillers grain, 71 Potato chips, 175 Properties Baked products, 201

Journal of Food Processing and Preservation 13(1989) 493-494. All Rights Reserved. ©Copyright 1989 by Food & Nutrition Press, Inc., Trumbull, Connecticut.

SUBJECT INDEX

Protein Corn germ, 161 Extraction, brewers grain, 457 Solubility, 161 Soy, 161

Sausage, 175 Shelf-life, 1, 281, 293, 335, 409 Sorbate Edible films, 417 Sorbic acid Cheese, 409 Soybean Extrusion, 385 Kinetic models, 355

Thermal processing Estimating, 475 Tomatoes, 431

Vitamins Cereals, 321

Zinc

Cereals, 307

494

^N P PUBLICATIONS IN FOOD SCIENCE AND NUTRITION

Journals

JOURNAL OF MUSCLE FOODS, N.G. Marriott and G.J. Flick, Jr.

JOURNAL OF SENSORY STUDIES, M.C. Gacula, Jr.

JOURNAL OF FOOD SERVICE SYSTEMS, O.P. Snyder, Jr.

JOURNAL OF FOOD BIOCHEMISTRY, J.R. Whitaker, N.F. Haard and H. Swaisgood

JOURNAL OF FOOD PROCESS ENGINEERING, D.R. Heldman and R.P. Singh

JOURNAL OF FOOD PROCESSING AND PRESERVATION, D.B. Lund

JOURNAL OF FOOD QUALITY, R.L. Shewfelt

F

JOURNAL OF FOOD SAFETY, T.J. Montville and A.J. Miller

JOURNAL OF TEXTURE STUDIES, M.C. Bourne and P. Sherman

Books

CONTROLLED/MODIFIED ATMOSPHERE/VACUUM PACKAGING OF FOODS, A.L. Brody

NUTRITIONAL STATUS ASSESSMENT OF THE INDIVIDUAL, G.E. Livingston QUALITY ASSURANCE OF FOODS, J.E. Stauffer

THE SCIENCE OF MEAT AND MEAT PRODUCTS, 3RD ED., J.F. Price and B.S. Schweigert

HANDBOOK OF FOOD COLORANT PATENTS, F.J. Francis

ROLE OF CHEMISTRY IN THE QUALITY OF PROCESSED FOODS, O.R. Fennema, W.H. Chang and C.Y. Lii

NEW DIRECTIONS FOR PRODUCT TESTING AND SENSORY ANALYSIS OF FOODS, H.R. Moskowitz

PRODUCT TESTING AND SENSORY EVALUATION OF FOODS, H.R. Moskowitz

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS OF CANCER: ROLE OF MACRO AND MICRO COMPONENTS OF FOODS, E.L. Wynder *et al.*

FOOD PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT IN IMPLEMENTING DIETARY

GUIDELINES, G.E. Livingston, R.J. Moshy, and C.M. Chang

SHELF-LIFE DATING OF FOODS, T.P. Labuza

RECENT ADVANCES IN OBESITY RESEARCH, VOL. V, E. Berry, S.H. Blondheim, H.E. Eliahou and E. Shafrir

RECENT ADVANCES IN OBESITY RESEARCH, VOL. IV, J. Hirsch et al.

RECENT ADVANCES IN OBESITY RESEARCH, VOL. III, P. Bjorntorp et al.

RECENT ADVANCES IN OBESITY RESEARCH, VOL. II, G.A. Bray

- RECENT ADVANCES IN OBESITY RESEARCH, VOL. I, A.N. Howard
- ANTINUTRIENTS AND NATURAL TOXICANTS IN FOOD, R.L. Ory
- UTILIZATION OF PROTEIN RESOURCES, D.W. Stanley et al.
- FOOD INDUSTRY ENERGY ALTERNATIVES, R.P. Ouellette et al.

VITAMIN B₆: METABOLISM AND ROLE IN GROWTH, G.P. Tryfiates

HUMAN NUTRITION, 3RD ED., F.R. Mottram

FOOD POISONING AND FOOD HYGIENE, 4TH ED., B.C. Hobbs *et al.* POSTHARVEST BIOLOGY AND BIOTECHNOLOGY, H.O. Hultin and M. Milner

Newsletters

FOOD INDUSTRY REPORT, G.C. Melson FOOD, NUTRITION AND HEALTH, P.A. Lachance and M.C. Fisher FOOD PACKAGING AND LABELING, S. Sacharow

Remarket he	MANAGEMENT AND CIRCU	ATION
1A. Title of Publication	18. PUBLICATION N	D. 2. Date of Filing
In1. Foud Processing and Preservation	4 5 6 4 7 0	Oct. 3, 1989
I Frequency of lasue	JA No of Issues Published	30 Annuel Subscription Price
Rimonthly	A DIVISION OF A DIVISIONO OF A DIVISIO OF A DIVISIONO OF A DIVISIO	S110.00
4 Complete Mulling Address of Known Office of Publication (Surer, Cur, C	ments Make and ZIP and Code) (Not primeria)	\$110.00
6527 Main St., POB 374, Trumbull, Fairfield, C	T 0.611	
b. Complete Meeting Address of the Headquarters of General Business Offic	tes of the Publisher (and primer)	
6527 Main St., POB 374, Trumbull, CT 06611		
6 Full Names and Cumplets Mailing Address of Publisher, Editor, and Man Publisher (Nume and Complete Alading Aikhers)	oging Editor (This new All'ST NOT be blan	1)
John J. O'Neil, 6527 Main St., POB 374, Trumb	ull. CT 06611	
Editor (Name and Complete Mading Address)		
De Des 1 B. L. J. D. S		NJ 089
Dr. Daryl B. Lund, Rutgers-The State Universi	ty, Dept. of Food Science	e, POB 231, New Brunsw
Managing Editor (Nume and Complete Mosting Adulters)		
7. Owner (If owned by a corporation, its name and add ess must be stated and also	immediately thereander the numer and addre	uses of starthadders among or holding
I precess to more of total anomat of stock. If not unced by a corporation, the may or other minorsportated from its manne and address, or well as that of each unless name and address must be stated i (them must be completed.)	mes and addresses of the individual owners m dust must be given by the publication is public	est be given. If owned by a partnership hed by a numprofit organization, as
Full Name	Complete Ma	lling Address
Food & Nutrition Press, Inc.	6527 Main St., POB 374,	Trumbull, CT 06611
John J. O'Nell	53 Stonchouse Rd., True	bull, CT 06611
Kathryn O. & Christopher R. Ziko	8 Maria Allea Dr. Hunti	neton, CT 06484
John J. O'Nell, Jr	115 Maureen St., Stratt	ord, CT 06497
the second	Parameters and the second second	A CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR O
The Condition by Knownin Distancement Authorited To Med et	Hales (DMM Scores 211D and a	
• For Completion by Nonjanih Organizations Authorized To Mad at • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Hetes (IMM Scinow 42) 12 unit) Retes (IMM Scinow 42) 12 unit)	noses ((hr.i. (mr)
For Completen by Research Opportance Automated To Mater *	Hates (DMM Scillow 42) 12 units sempt status for Foderal income tas pur	noses ((hr.1 (mr)
For Cumpletion by Manjarolis Organizations Authorized To Med at the The pupping, function, and hospital's tation of this expansion. The organization of the second statement o	Heles (DMM Sound 42) 12 units wengt klatus für Foddral uncume tax pur (If changed , p change och it	nosee (/ hr.i. imr) bisee (/ hr.i. imr) biseermas gabmi explanation of
For Completen by Nonjuroli Organizations Automized To Mad a ' rel The purpose, function, and important status of the supported on the 11 [12] [14] [17] [17] [17] [17] [17] [17] [17] [17	Rese (IMM Science 22) (2 contr) Rese (IMM Science 22) (2 contr) Rese (IMM Science 22) (2 contr) (1) (2 control 1) (2 control 2) Reserves No. Ceptors Each Issue During Preceding 12 Months	Noses (Chr.L.rmr) Noses (Chr.L.rmr) Noter must submar explanation of a statement J Actual No. Copies of Single Issue Publishing Decess 10 Find Que
Tor Completion by Respect Organizations Automated To Mat a ' ' out The programs, function, and transport transport at the BigBroaching in the (1) [15 Aright Ourged Ourge [20] [15 Aright Ourged Ourged [21 Aright Ourged Ourged [22 Aright Ourged Ourged [23 Aright Ourged Ourged [23 Aright Ourged Ourged [24 Aright Ourged Ourged [25 Aright Ourged [25 Arig	Average No. Copius 201 (2 unit) Average No. Copius Each International Average No. Copius Each Issue During Preceding 12 Months 500	nouse (f.hr.). mrr) ablutry may johnt syldaming of in infrance J Actual No. Copes of Single Issue Publiches Organis To Fing Date SO()
For Cumpleten by Mengenin Dyseverients Automized To Med p *	Hese (IMM Scrime 42) (2 min) rempt kielus für Foteral viccom tas pur (f) churger, p churger ett if Average No. Cooner Each Isaw During Faccultur, 12 Months 500	Nose (Chr. Lowr) abintry may solve rylamine of anitrary Actual No. Copers of Second Insur Participa Viscos to Long Orie SOD
For Comparison by Non-points Objects and Automited To Med P *	Average No. Copus Each Insue Average No. Copus Each Insue Presenting 12 Montes Average No. Copus Each Insue Presenting 12 Montes 500	noses of ArcL over) address responses of Single Insue Frieddown and Copies of Single Insue Frieddown Arcass to Long Orise 500
for Completent by Normanic Operations Automated To Med + ' - out the purpose, harcon, and homports taites of the operations and the purpose, harcon, and homports taites of the operations and the operation of the operation ope	Average No. Copius 201 (2 unit) Average (INALY Science 42) (2 unit) (4) changed, pro- Average No. Copius Each Issue During Preceding 12 Months 500 0	nouse (f. hr. k. renr) shinker may johne siphaneting of internet y Actual No. Copes of Single Tsaue Public Nearest to Feling Date 500
Tur Cumpilation by Nonjuriti Opperson Multimized To Met # '	Average No Come 227 D Monta Research of the Company of the Compan	Nosee (f. Nr. L. vor.) bit for man palmer systemation of a defaunt // Publicities Nearest to Pang Date 500 0
For Comparison by Monopolis Objects and Automited To Med *	Average No. Copus (act have being) Average No. Copus (act have being) Average No. Copus (act have being) Preceding 12 Months 500 0 312 312	noses (f. kr. i. vvr) deliator mar (some replanation of transverse) Actual No Copres of Single Trace Principles Research to Faing Orize 500
For Completent by Monarchi Operative more Automited To Med * ' ' tal The programs, function, and homportal status of the exploration: ' the e 11 [2] Inter Net Changed During [2] 13 [2] 14 [2] 16 [2] 17 [2] 18 [2] 19 [2] 10 [2] 11 [2] 12 [2] 13 [2] 14 [2] 15 [2] 16 [2] 17 [2] 18 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 11 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2] 19 [2]	Average No Copies 427 12 initi Average (INIV Science 427 12 initi) (If charged, pro- Precedent 12 Months 500 0 312 312 312	nouse (f. hr. k. mrr) solutions submit explanation of statisticans (f. hr. k. mrr) Actual No. Copers of Single Trave Publicing Neurosci to False Drave 500 0
For Computation by Recognition Objects and the Additionated To Med # * * * *** For Comparison and Integration Students of the adjustment in the integration of the adjustment in the integration of the adjustment in the integration of the adjustment integrated integration of the adjustment integration	Average No. Comm. 227 D annu. Heres (PMM Science 227 D annu. Heres (PMM Science 227 D annu. (If charged in accurate law pur- sense and accurate law pro- Average No. Comm. Each Iston During Preceding 12 Months 500 0 312 312 312 38	Noses (f. Nr. L. vor) bit Nor may colonic exploration of is interney. Public Research is Single trave Public Research is Public Trave 500 0
For Comparison by Non-particip Objects and Automitted To Med # ` `	Average No. Copus (act have been acted) (1) Average No. Copus (act have been acted) Average No. Copus (act have being Preceding 12 Months 500 0 112 112 112 112 10	Date of the L over) Address over () Address over () Actual No. Cognes of Single Trace Principles Neurons: to Faing Oute SOU 0 320 320 320 320 320 320 320
For Computation by Non-points Objective status Automitted To Med * '	Average No. Copus (27.7) and) (1111/2 bring 42.7) and) (1111/2 bring for fr-datal account tax pur (1111/2 bring for fr-datal account tax (1111/2 bring	Date of the L over) Address over (address of the compare of Single Trace Principles Research to Taning Oute SOU 0 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 144
For Comparison by Recognite Objects and Automited To Med *	Average No. Copus 42/2 Junit. (1997) Latitus for Fr-datal accurate Law pur- (1997) Calification for Fr-datal accurate Law pur- (1997) Copus Each Insue During Preceding 12 Months 500 0 312 312 312 312 312 312 312 0 0	Double (f. hr. i) definition only former supfammering of the intervention for the intervention of the intervention of the intervention of the intervention of the intervention of the intervention of the intervention SOU O
	Average (IMM Science 42) 17 sector many catalors for 17 data discutor tax pur (Charged and Marging No. Copues Each Taxa During Preceding 12 Monitor 500 0 312 312 150 0 0 150 0 100	Dates (Chr.1. mrr) abluter mar poline replaneting of interference) Actual No. Copies of Single Trave Publishe Neural to Jung One 500 0 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 321 326 326 326 327 328 329 329 320 320 320 321 322 325 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320 320
International Data Provided Contract Statistics of the subject statistis of the subject statistics of the subject sta		Nuese of No.1 -mor) Nuese of No.1 -mor) Advance registration of inderney Publishes Measure to Famp Orie 500 0 10 320 320 320 326 326 9 144 0 0 144 0 0 publishes Origination
Part Computation by Recognition Objects allows and Automized To Med # * * * *****************************	Average (MMI brow 427 0 and) Average (MMI brow 427 0 and) Status for F-dard account is a pur (fridance) Average Res Convert facts insure Preceding 12 Months 500 0 312 312 312 150 0 150 0 150 0 150 0 150 0 10 100	Noses of Arcl. nov) Advisor may reduce repleation of in internet) Article No. Correct of Socials into a SOO 0 320

GUIDE FOR AUTHORS

Typewritten manuscripts in triplicate should be submitted to the editorial office. The typing should be double-spaced throughout with one-inch margins on all sides.

Page one should contain: the title which should be concise and informative; the complete name(s) of the author(s); affiliation of the author(s); a running title of 40 characters or less; and the name and mail address to whom the correspondence should be sent.

Page two should contain an abstract of not more than 150 words. This abstract should be intelligible by itself.

The main text should begin on page three and will ordinarily have the following arrangement:

Introduction: This should be brief and state the reason for the work in relation to the field. It should indicate what new contribution is made by the work described.

Materials and Methods: Enough information should be provided to allow other investigators to repeat the work. Avoid repeating the details of procedures which have already been published elsewhere.

Results: The results should be presented as concisely as possible. Do not use tables *and* figures for presentation of the same data.

Discussion: The discussion section should be used for the interpretation of results. The results should not be repeated.

In some cases it might be desirable to combine results and discussion sections.

References: References should be given in the text by the surname of the authors and the year. *Et al.* should be used in the text when there are more than two authors. All authors should be given in the References section. In the Reference section the references should be listed alphabetically. See below for style to be used.

DEWALD, B., DULANEY, J.T. and TOUSTER, O. 1974. Solubilization and polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of membrane enzymes with detergents. In *Methods in Enzymology*, Vol. xxxii, (S. Fleischer and L. Packer, eds.)pp. 82–91, Academic Press, New York.

HASSON, E.P. and LATIES, G.G. 1976. Separation and characterization of potato lipid acylhydrolases. Plant Physiol. 57, 142-147.

ZABORSKY, O. 1973. Immobilized Enzymes, pp. 28-46, CRC Press, Cleveland, Ohio

Journal abbreviations should follow those used in *Chemical Abstracts*. Responsibility for the accuracy of citations rests entirely with the author(s). References to papers in press should indicate the name of the journal and should only be used for papers that have been accepted for publication. Submitted papers should be referred to by such terms as "unpublished observations" or "private communication." However, these last should be used only when absolutely necessary.

Tables should be numbered consecutively with Arabic numerals. The title of the table should appear as below:

Table 1. Activity of potato acyl-hydrolases on neutral lipids, galactolipids, and phospholipids.

Description of experimental work or explanation of symbols should go below the table proper.

Figures should be listed in order in the text using Arabic numbers. Figure legends should be typed on a separate page. Figures and tables should be intelligible without reference to the text. Authors should indicate where the tables and figures should be placed in the text. Photographs must be supplied as glossy black and white prints. Line diagrams should be drawn with black waterproof ink on white paper or board. The lettering should be of such a size that it is easily legible after reduction. Each diagram and photograph should be clearly labeled on the reverse side with the name(s) or author(s), and title of paper. When not obvious, each photograph and diagram should be labeled on the back to show the top of the photograph or diagram.

Acknowledgments: Acknowledgments should be listed on a separate page.

Short notes will be published where the information is deemed sufficiently important to warrant rapid publication. The format for short papers may be similar to that for regular papers but more concisely written. Short notes may be of a less general nature and written principally for specialists in the particular area with which the manuscript is dealing. Manuscripts which do not meet the requirement of importance and necessity for rapid publication will, after notification of the author(s), be treated as regular papers. Regular papers may be very short.

Standard nomenclature as used in the biochemical literature should be followed. Avoid laboratory jargon. If abbreviations or trade names are used, define the material or compound the first time that it is mentioned.

EDITORIAL OFFICE: Dr. D.B. Lund, Journal of Food Processing and Preservation, Rutgers, The State University, Cook College, Department of Food Science, New Brunswick, New Jersey 08903 USA.

JOURNAL OF FOOD PROCESSING AND PRESERVATION VOL. 13, NO. 6

CONTENTS

Editorialv
The 1990 Geddes Memorial Lectureship
Sorbic Acid Stability During Processing and Storage of an Intermediate Moisture Cheese Analog J.A. TORRES, J.O. BOUZAS and M. KAREL
Potassium Sorbate Permeability of Methylcellulose and Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose Multi-Layer Films F. VOJDANI and J.A. TORRES
Influence of Gluconic Acid on Thermal Processing Requirements for Canned Whole Peeled Tomatoes J.R. HEIL, M.J. MCCARTHY, D.J. MCINTYRE and R.L. MERSON 431
Development of Products Containing Mesquite (<i>Prosopis</i> spp.) Pod Flour and Their Nutritional and Organoleptic Evaluation F.R. DEL VALLE, E. MARCO, R. BECKER and R.M. SAUNDERS .447
 Application of Response Surface Methodology in Protein Extraction Studies from Brewer's Spent Grain R. DIPTEE, J.P. SMITH, I. ALLI and S. KHANIZADEH
 Kinetics of Methylmethionine Sulfonium in Buffer Solutions for Estimating Thermal Treatment of Liquid Foods M.F. BERRY, R.K. SINGH and P.E. NELSON
Author Index
Subject Index

